UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

(Mark One)

☒ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2023

or

☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from __________________ to __________________

Commission File Number: 001-38249

LIVEONE, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware |  | 98-0657263
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) |  | (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
269 S. Beverly Dr., Suite #1450 Beverly Hills, California |  | 90212
(Address of principal executive offices) |  | (Zip Code)

(310) 601-2505

(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

n/a

(Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class |  | Trading Symbol(s) |  | Name of each exchange on which registered
Common stock, $0.001 par value per share |  | LVO |  | The NASDAQ Capital Market

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant is required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes ☒ No ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes ☒ No ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company,” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

| Large accelerated filer | ☐ | Accelerated filer | ☐
| Non-accelerated filer | ☒ | Smaller reporting company | ☒
|  | Emerging growth company | ☐

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes ☐ No ☒

As of August 10, 2023, there were 90,198,395 shares of the registrant’s common stock, $0.001 par value per share, issued and outstanding.

LIVEONE, INC.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

|  | Page
PART I — FINANCIAL INFORMATION | 1
Item 1. | Financial Statements | 1
Item 2. | Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations | 2
Item 3. | Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk | 14
Item 4. | Controls and Procedures | 14
PART II — OTHER INFORMATION | 16
Item 1. | Legal Proceedings | 16
Item 1A. | Risk Factors | 16
Item 2. | Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds | 22
Item 3. | Defaults Upon Senior Securities | 22
Item 4. | Mine Safety Disclosures | 22
Item 5. | Other Information | 22
Item 6. | Exhibits | 23
| Signatures | 25

i

PART I — FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements.

| Page
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of June 30, 2023 (unaudited) and March 31, 2023 (audited) | F-1
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 (unaudited) | F-2
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Deficit for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 (unaudited) | F-3
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 (unaudited) | F-4
Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited) | F-5 – F-28

1

LiveOne, Inc.

(formerly LiveXLive Media, Inc.)

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Unaudited, in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

|  | June 30, |  |  | March 31, |
|  | 2023 |  |  | 2023 |
Assets |  |  |  |  | (Audited) |
Current Assets |  |  |  |  |  |
Cash and cash equivalents |  | $ | 4,990 |  |  | $ | 8,409 |
Restricted cash |  |  | 240 |  |  |  | 240 |
Accounts receivable, net |  |  | 15,997 |  |  |  | 13,658 |
Inventories |  |  | 2,446 |  |  |  | 2,596 |
Prepaid expense and other current assets |  |  | 3,154 |  |  |  | 2,823 |
Total Current Assets |  |  | 26,827 |  |  |  | 27,726 |
Property and equipment, net |  |  | 3,144 |  |  |  | 3,325 |
Goodwill |  |  | 23,379 |  |  |  | 23,379 |
Intangible assets, net |  |  | 10,788 |  |  |  | 11,035 |
Other assets |  |  | 253 |  |  |  | 423 |
Total Assets |  | $ | 64,391 |  |  | $ | 65,888 |
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Deficit |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Current Liabilities |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities |  | $ | 25,947 |  |  | $ | 22,772 |
Accrued royalties |  |  | 12,381 |  |  |  | 12,826 |
Notes payable, current portion |  |  | 14 |  |  |  | 15 |
Deferred revenue |  |  | 969 |  |  |  | 992 |
Senior secured line of credit |  |  | 7,000 |  |  |  | - |
Bridge loan |  |  | 2,711 |  |  |  | 4,726 |
Derivative liabilities |  |  | 1,839 |  |  |  | 3,148 |
Total Current Liabilities |  |  | 50,861 |  |  |  | 44,479 |
Senior secured line of credit |  |  | - |  |  |  | 7,000 |
Notes payable, net |  |  | 148 |  |  |  | 148 |
Lease liabilities, noncurrent |  |  | 80 |  |  |  | 161 |
Derivative liabilities, noncurrent |  |  | 859 |  |  |  | 376 |
Other long-term liabilities |  |  | 9,574 |  |  |  | 9,578 |
Deferred income taxes |  |  | 332 |  |  |  | 332 |
Total Liabilities |  |  | 61,854 |  |  |  | 62,074 |
Commitments and Contingencies |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Mezzanine Equity |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized; 21,573 and 21,177 shares issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2023 and March 31, 2023, respectively |  |  | 4,827 |  |  |  | 4,827 |
Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized; 16,177 shares issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2023 and March 31, 2023, respectively |  |  | 16,177 |  |  |  | 16,177 |
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 500,000,000 shares authorized; 90,063,149 and 89,632,161 shares issued and outstanding, respectively |  |  | 90 |  |  |  | 88 |
Additional paid in capital |  |  | 210,028 |  |  |  | 209,151 |
Treasury stock |  |  | (3,175 | ) |  |  | (2,162 | )
Accumulated deficit |  |  | (225,410 | ) |  |  | (224,269 | )
Total stockholders’ deficit |  |  | (2,290 | ) |  |  | (1,013 | )
Total Liabilities, Mezzanine Equity and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) |  | $ | 64,391 |  |  | $ | 65,888 |

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

F-1

LiveOne, Inc.

(formerly LiveXLive Media, Inc.)

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations

(Unaudited, in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

|  | Three Months Ended June 30, |
|  | 2023 |  |  | 2022 |
Revenue: |  | $ | 27,767 |  |  | $ | 23,222 |
Operating expenses: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Cost of sales |  |  | 19,563 |  |  |  | 15,382 |
Sales and marketing |  |  | 1,904 |  |  |  | 2,366 |
Product development |  |  | 1,246 |  |  |  | 1,617 |
General and administrative |  |  | 5,063 |  |  |  | 2,209 |
Amortization of intangible assets |  |  | 246 |  |  |  | 1,411 |
Total operating expenses |  |  | 28,022 |  |  |  | 22,985 |
Income (loss) from operations |  |  | (255 | ) |  |  | 237 |
Other income (expense): |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Interest expense, net |  |  | (1,418 | ) |  |  | (997 | )
Other income |  |  | 1,237 |  |  |  | 2,105 |
Total other income (expense), net |  |  | (181 | ) |  |  | 1,108 |
Income (loss) before income taxes |  |  | (436 | ) |  |  | 1,345 |
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes |  |  | 79 |  |  |  | (3 | )
Net income (loss) |  | $ | (515 | ) |  | $ | 1,348 |
Net income (loss) per share - basic |  | $ | (0.01 | ) |  | $ | 0.02 |
Net income (loss) per share – diluted |  | $ | (0.01 | ) |  | $ | 0.02 |
Weighted average common shares – basic |  |  | 86,895,208 |  |  |  | 82,072,822 |
Weighted average common shares – diluted |  |  | 86,895,208 |  |  |  | 82,126,622 |

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

F-2

LiveOne, Inc.

(formerly LiveXLive Media, Inc.)

Condensed Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Deficit

(Unaudited, in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

|  | Common Stock |  |  | Additional Paid in |  |  | Accumulated |  |  | Common Stock in Treasury |  |  | Total Stockholders’ |
|  | Shares |  |  | Amount |  |  | Capital |  |  | Deficit |  |  | Shares |  |  | Amount |  |  | Deficit |
Balance as of March 31, 2023 |  |  | 89,632,161 |  |  | $ | 90 |  |  | $ | 209,151 |  |  | $ | (224,269 | ) |  |  | (2,220,914 | ) |  | $ | (2,162 | ) |  | $ | (1,013 | )
Stock-based compensation |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | 484 |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | 484 |
Shares issued pursuant to restricted stock units |  |  | 5,000 |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |
Dividends on Series A preferred stock |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | (626 | ) |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | (626 | )
Common stock issued for services |  |  | 425,988 |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | 393 |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | 393 |
Treasury stock purchases |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | (694,315 | ) |  |  | (1,013 | ) |  |  | (1,013 | )
Net loss |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | (515 | ) |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | (515 | )
Balance as of June 30, 2023 |  |  | 90,063,149 |  |  | $ | 90 |  |  | $ | 210,028 |  |  | $ | (225,410 | ) |  |  | (2,915,229 | ) |  | $ | (3,175 | ) |  | $ | (2,290 | )

|  | Common Stock |  |  | Additional Paid in |  |  | Accumulated |  |  | Common Stock in Treasury |  |  | Total Stockholders’ |
|  | Shares |  |  | Amount |  |  | Capital |  |  | Deficit |  |  | Shares |  |  | Amount |  |  | Deficit |
Balance as of March 31, 2022 |  |  | 82,546,189 |  |  | $ | 83 |  |  | $ | 202,854 |  |  | $ | (213,853 | ) |  |  | - |  |  | $ | - |  |  | $ | (10,916 | )
Stock-based compensation |  |  | 135,270 |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | 788 |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | 788 |
Shares issued pursuant to restricted stock units |  |  | 102,500 |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |
Treasury stock purchases |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | (1,186,221 | ) |  |  | (997 | ) |  |  | (997 | )
Net income |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | 1,348 |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | 1,348 |
Balance as of June 30, 2022 |  |  | 82,783,959 |  |  | $ | 83 |  |  | $ | 203,642 |  |  | $ | (212,505 | ) |  |  | (1,186,221 | ) |  | $ | (997 | ) |  | $ | (9,777 | )

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

F-3

LiveOne, Inc.

LiveXLive Media, Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Unaudited, in thousands)

|  | Three Months Ended June 30, |
|  | 2023 |  |  | 2022 |
Cash Flows from Operating Activities: |  |  |  |  |  |
Net income (loss) |  | $ | (515 | ) |  | $ | 1,348 |
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Depreciation and amortization |  |  | 1,055 |  |  |  | 2,316 |
Stock-based compensation |  |  | 877 |  |  |  | 788 |
Amortization of debt discount |  |  | 986 |  |  |  | 393 |
Change in fair value of bifurcated embedded derivatives |  |  | (826 | ) |  |  | 20 |
Change in fair value of contingent consideration liability |  |  | - |  |  |  | (2,220 | )
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Accounts receivable |  |  | (2,339 | ) |  |  | 973 |
Prepaid expenses and other current assets |  |  | (285 | ) |  |  | 177 |
Inventories |  |  | 150 |  |  |  | (119 | )
Other assets |  |  | 124 |  |  |  | 101 |
Deferred revenue |  |  | (23 | ) |  |  | (176 | )
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities |  |  | 1715 |  |  |  | (6,994 | )
Accrued royalties |  |  | 302 |  |  |  | 3,367 |
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities |  |  | 1,221 |  |  |  | (26 | )
Cash Flows from Investing Activities: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Purchases of property and equipment |  |  | (627 | ) |  |  | (773 | )
Purchases of intangible assets |  |  | - |  |  |  | (12 | )
Net cash used in investing activities |  |  | (627 | ) |  |  | (785 | )
Cash Flows from Financing Activities: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Payment on bridge loan |  |  | (3,000 | ) |  |  | - |
Purchase of treasury stock |  |  | (1,013 | ) |  |  | (997 | )
Net cash used in financing activities |  |  | (4,013 | ) |  |  | (997 | )
Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash |  |  | (3,419 | ) |  |  | (1,808 | )
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period |  |  | 8,649 |  |  |  | 13,154 |
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period |  | $ | 5,230 |  |  | $ | 11,346 |
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Cash paid for income taxes |  | $ | - |  |  | $ | - |
Cash paid for interest |  | $ | 125 |  |  | $ | 320 |
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Fair value of options issued to employees, capitalized as internally-developed software |  | $ | 3 |  |  | $ | 26 |

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

F-4

LiveOne, Inc.

(formerly LiveXLive Media, Inc.)

Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2023 and 2022

Note 1 — Organization and Basis of Presentation

Organization

LiveOne, Inc. (formerly LiveXLive Media, Inc.) together with its subsidiaries (“we,” “us,” “our”, the “Company” or “LiveOne”) is a Delaware corporation headquartered in Beverly Hills, California. The Company is a creator-first, music, entertainment and technology platform focused on delivering premium experiences and content worldwide through memberships, live and virtual events.

The Company was reincorporated in the State of Delaware on August 2, 2017, pursuant to a reincorporation merger of Loton, Corp (“Loton”) with and into LiveXLive Media, Inc., Loton’s wholly owned subsidiary at the time. As a result of the reincorporation merger, Loton ceased to exist as a separate entity, with LiveXLive Media, Inc. being the surviving entity. Effective as of October 5, 2021, the Company changed its name to LiveOne, Inc. On December 29, 2017, the Company acquired Slacker, Inc. (“Slacker”), an Internet music and radio streaming service incorporated in the state of Delaware, and it became a wholly owned subsidiary of LiveOne. On February 5, 2020, the Company acquired (i) React Presents, LLC a Delaware limited liability company (“React Presents”), and it became a wholly owned subsidiary of LiveXLive Events, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and (ii) indirectly Spring Awakening, LLC, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of React Presents, a producer, promoter and manager of in person live music festivals and events. On July 1, 2020, the Company through its wholly owned subsidiary, LiveXLive PodcastOne, Inc., acquired Courtside Group, Inc. (dba PodcastOne) (“PodcastOne”). On December 22, 2020, the Company through its wholly owned subsidiary LiveXLive Merchandising, Inc., acquired Custom Personalization Solutions, Inc. (“CPS”). On October 17, 2021, the Company through its wholly owned subsidiary LiveXLive PR, Inc., acquired Gramophone Media, Inc.

Basis of Presentation

The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the same basis as the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023, and include all adjustments, which include only normal recurring adjustments, necessary for the fair presentation of the Company’s unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements for the three months ended June 30, 2023. The results for the three months ended June 30, 2023 are not necessarily indicative of the results expected for the full fiscal year ending March 31, 2024 (“fiscal 2024”). The condensed consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2023 has been derived from the Company’s audited balance sheet included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on June 29, 2023 (the “2023 Form 10-K”).

The interim unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. They do not include all of the information and footnotes required by GAAP for complete audited financial statements. Therefore, these financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in the 2023 Form 10-K.

Going Concern and Liquidity

The Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern, which contemplates continuity of operations, realization of assets, and liquidation of liabilities in the normal course of business.

The Company’s principal sources of liquidity have historically been its debt and equity issuances and its cash and cash equivalents (which cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash amounted to $5.2 million as of June 30, 2023). As reflected in its interim unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included elsewhere herein, the Company has a history of losses, incurred a net loss of $0.5 million, and utilized cash of $4.0 million in financing activities for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and had a working capital deficiency of $24.0 million as of June 30, 2023. These factors, among others, raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year from the date that these financial statements are filed. The Company’s consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments related to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts or the amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern.

F-5

The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on its ability to execute its growth strategy and on its ability to raise additional funds. The Company filed a new universal shelf Registration Statement on Form S-3 (the “New Shelf S-3”) with the SEC, which was declared effective by the SEC on February 17, 2022. Under the New Shelf S-3, the Company has the ability to raise up to $150.0 million in cash from the sale of its equity, debt and/or other financial instruments. The uncertain market conditions may limit the Company’s ability to access capital, may reduce demand for its services and may negatively impact its ability to retain key personnel. Management may seek additional funds, primarily through the issuance of equity and/or debt securities for cash to operate the Company’s business. No assurance can be given that any future financing will be available or, if available, that it be on terms that are satisfactory to the Company. Even if the Company is able to obtain additional financing, it may contain terms that result in undue restrictions on its operations, in the case of debt financing or cause substantial dilution for its stockholders, in case of equity and/or convertible debt financing. If the Company is unable to obtain sufficient financing when needed, the Company may also have to reduce certain overhead costs through the reduction of salaries and other means and settle liabilities through negotiation. There can be no assurance that management’s attempts at any or all of these endeavors will be successful.

Principles of Consolidation

The condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. Acquisitions are included in the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements from the date of the acquisition. The Company uses purchase accounting for its acquisitions, which results in all assets and liabilities of acquired businesses being recorded at their estimated fair values on the acquisition dates. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the Company’s previously issued financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

There have been no material changes in the Company’s significant accounting policies from those previously disclosed in the consolidated financial statements included in the 2023 Form 10-K, other than those included below.

COVID-19

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of the novel coronavirus disease (“COVID-19”) as a pandemic. The global impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has had a negative effect on the global economy, disrupting the financial markets creating increasing volatility and overall uncertainty. The Company began to experience modest adverse impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic in the fourth quarter of fiscal year ended March 31, 2020 and became more adverse throughout the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021 and up to the third quarter of fiscal year ended March 31, 2022. Although the impact has subsided, the Company expects to continue experiencing modest adverse impacts throughout the fiscal year ending March 31, 2024. The Company’s event and programmatic advertising revenues were directly impacted throughout the 2022 and 2021 fiscal years with all on-premise in-person live music festivals and events postponed in 2021 fiscal year and mixed demand from historical advertising partners in 2022 fiscal year. Further, one of the Company’s larger customers also experienced a temporary halt to its production as a result of COVID-19, which negatively impacted the Company’s near-term membership growth in the 2021 fiscal year. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021, the Company enacted several initiatives to counteract these near-term challenges, including salary reductions, obtaining a Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”) loan and pivoting its live music production to 100% digital. The Company began producing, curating, and broadcasting digital music festivals and events across its platform which has resulted in the growth in the number of live events streamed, related sponsorship revenue and overall viewership. The Company also launched a new pay-per-view (“PPV”) offering in May 2020, enabling new forms of artist revenue including digital tickets, tipping, digital meet and greet and merchandise sales. However, there is uncertainty as to the duration and overall impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, which could result in an adverse material change in a future period to the Company’s results of operations, financial position and liquidity.

On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”) was enacted in the United States. The CARES Act provides numerous tax provisions and other stimulus measures, including temporary changes regarding the prior and future utilization of net operating losses and technical corrections from prior tax legislation for tax depreciation of certain qualified improvement property. The Company evaluated the provisions of the CARES Act and determined it is eligible for Employee Retention Credits related to payroll taxes paid during the quarter ended December 31, 2021. In accordance with ASC 105-10-05-02, the Company analogized to International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), specifically International Accounting Standards (“IAS”) 20, Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosures of Government Assistance, and determined that the payroll tax credit will be recognized as a reduction to the payroll tax expense when it is reasonably assured that the credit will be received. The Company received confirmation the credit would be approved and recognized the credit of $0.8 million as a reduction of payroll tax expense for the year ended March 31, 2023. The Company does not anticipate the associated impacts of the other provisions, if any, will have a material effect on its provision for income taxes.

F-6

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with the United States of America (“US”) generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) requires the Company’s management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include revenue, allowance for doubtful accounts, the assigned value of acquired assets and assumed and contingent liabilities associated with business combinations and the related purchase price allocation, useful lives and impairment of property and equipment, intangible assets, goodwill and other assets, inventory calculations and reserves, the fair value of the Company’s equity-based compensation awards and convertible debt and debenture instruments, fair values of derivatives, and contingencies. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates. On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates its estimates compared to historical experience and trends, which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities. Given the overall uncertainty surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic, there is a reasonable possibility that actual results could differ from those estimates and such differences could be material to the financial position and results of operations, specifically in assessing when the collectability of revenue related consideration is probable, and the impairment assessment of goodwill, indefinite lived assets or long-lived assets that are depreciated or amortized.

Revenue Recognition Policy

The Company accounts for a contract with a customer when an approved contract exists, the rights of the parties are identified, payment terms are identified, the contract has commercial substance and the collectability of substantially all of the consideration is probable. Revenue is recognized when the Company satisfies its obligation by transferring control of the goods or services to its customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The Company uses the expected value method to estimate the value of variable consideration on advertising and with original equipment manufacturer contracts to include in the transaction price and reflect changes to such estimates in periods in which they occur. Variable consideration for these services is allocated to and recognized over the related time period such advertising and membership services are rendered as the amounts reflect the consideration the Company is entitled to and relate specifically to the Company’s efforts to satisfy its performance obligation. The amount of variable consideration included in revenue is limited to the extent that it is probable that the amount will not be subject to significant reversal when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

Practical Expedients

The Company elected the practical expedient and recognized the incremental costs of obtaining a contract, if any, as an expense when incurred if the amortization period of the asset that would have been recognized is one year or less.

Gross Versus Net Revenue Recognition

The Company reports revenue on a gross or net basis based on management’s assessment of whether the Company acts as a principal or agent in the transaction and is evaluated on a transaction by transaction basis. To the extent the Company acts as the principal, revenue is reported on a gross basis net of any sales tax from customers, when applicable. The determination of whether the Company acts as a principal or an agent in a transaction is based on an evaluation of whether the Company controls the good or service prior to transfer to the customer. Where applicable, the Company has determined that it acts as the principal in all of its membership service, sponsorship, and merchandising streams and may act as principal or agent for its ticketing/live events, advertising and licensing revenue streams.

F-7

The Company’s revenue is principally derived from the following services:

Membership Services

Membership services revenue substantially consist of monthly to annual recurring membership fees, which are primarily paid in advance by credit card or through direct billings arrangements. The Company defers the portions of monthly to annual recurring membership fees collected in advance and recognizes them in the period earned. Membership revenue is recognized in the period of services rendered. The Company’s membership revenue consists of performance obligations that are satisfied over time. This has been determined based on the fact that the nature of services offered are membership based where the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefit of the services provided regardless of whether the customer uses the services or not. As a result, the Company has concluded that the best measure of progress toward the complete satisfaction of the performance obligation over time is a time-based measure. The Company recognizes membership revenue straight-line through the membership period.

Membership Services consist of:

Direct member, mobile service provider and mobile app services

The Company generates revenue for membership services on both a direct basis and through memberships sold through certain third-party mobile service providers and mobile app services (collectively the “Mobile Providers”). For memberships sold through the Mobile Providers, the member executes an on-line agreement with Slacker outlining the terms and conditions between Slacker and the member upon purchase of the membership. The Mobile Providers promote the Slacker app through their e-store, process payments for memberships, and retain a percentage of revenue as a fee. The Company reports this revenue gross of the fee retained by the Mobile Providers, as the member is Slacker’s customer in the contract and Slacker controls the service prior to the transfer to the member. Membership revenues from monthly memberships sold directly through Mobile Providers are subject to such Mobile Providers’ refund or cancellation terms. Revenues from Mobile Providers are recognized net of any such adjustments for variable consideration, including refunds and other fees. The Company’s payment terms vary based on whether the membership is sold on a direct basis or through Mobile Providers. Memberships sold on a direct basis require payment before the services are delivered to the customer. The payment terms for memberships sold through Mobile Providers vary, but are generally payable within 30 days.

Third-Party Original Equipment Manufacturers

The Company generates revenue for membership services through memberships sold through a third-party Original Equipment Manufacturer (the “OEM”). For memberships sold through the OEM, the OEM executes an agreement with Slacker outlining the terms and conditions between Slacker and the OEM upon purchase of the membership. The OEM installs the Slacker app in their equipment and provides the Slacker service to the OEM’s customers. The monthly fee charged to the OEM is based upon a fixed rate per vehicle, multiplied by the variable number of total vehicles which have signed up for a paid membership. The number of customers, or the variable consideration, is reported by OEMs and resolved on a monthly basis. The Company’s payment terms with OEM are up to 30 days.

Advertising Revenue

Advertising revenue primarily consist of revenues generated from the sale of audio, video, and display advertising space to third-party advertising exchanges. Revenues are recognized based on delivery of impressions over the contract period to the third-party exchanges, either when an ad is placed for listening or viewing by a visitor or when the visitor “clicks through” on the advertisement. The advertising exchange companies report the variable advertising revenue performed on a monthly basis, which represents the Company’s efforts to satisfy the performance obligation. Additionally, following the acquisition of PodcastOne, the Company began deriving revenue from podcast advertising. PodcastOne earns advertising revenues primarily for fees earned from advertisement placement purchased by the customer during the time the podcast is delivered to the viewing audience, under the terms and conditions as set forth in the applicable podcasting agreement calculated using impressions.

From time to time the Company enters into barter transactions involving advertising provided in exchange for goods and services. Revenue from barter transactions is recognized based on delivery of impressions and in the same manner as described above. Services received are charged to expense when received or utilized. If services are received prior to the delivery of impressions, a liability is recorded. If delivery of impressions have occurred before the receipt of goods or services, a receivable is recorded. Barter revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 was $4.1 million and $1.3 million, respectively.

F-8

Licensing Revenue

Licensing revenue primarily consists of sales of licensing rights to digitally stream the Company’s live music services. Licensing revenue is recognized when the Company satisfies its performance obligation by transferring control of the goods or services to its customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services, which is typically when the live event has aired. Any license fees collected in advance of an event are deferred until the event airs.

Sponsorship Revenue

Sponsorship revenue primarily consists of sales of sponsorship programs that provide sponsors with opportunities to reach the Company’s customers. Sponsorship revenue is recognized as the event airs. Any sponsorship fees collected in advance of the contract term (typically an event) are deferred until the event airs. The Company reports sponsorship revenue on a gross basis as the Company acts as the principal in the underlying transactions.

Merchandising Revenue

Revenue is recognized upon the transfer of control to the customer. The Company recognizes revenue and measures the transaction price net of taxes collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities. Sales also include shipping and handling charges billed to customers, with the related freight costs included in cost of goods sold. Sales commissions are expensed as incurred and are recorded in sales and marketing expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. The Company’s customer contracts do not have a significant financing component due to their short durations, which are typically effective for one year or less and have payment terms that are generally 30 to 60 days. Wholesale revenue is generally recognized when products are shipped, depending on the applicable contract terms. The Company records a refund liability for expected returns based on prior returns history, recent trends, and projections for returns on sales in the current period. The refund liability at June 30, 2023 and 2022 was less than $0.1 million, respectively.

Ticket/Event Revenue

Ticket/Event revenue is primarily from the sale of tickets and promoter fees earned from venues or other co-promoters under one of several formulas, including a fixed guaranteed amount and/or a percentage of ticket sales or event profits.

Revenue from the promotion or production of an event is recognized at a point in time when the show occurs. Revenue collected in advance of the event is recorded as deferred revenue until the event occurs. Revenue collected from sponsorship agreements, which is not related to a single event, is classified as deferred revenue and recognized over the term of the agreement or operating season as the benefits are provided to the sponsor.

Revenue from the Company’s ticketing operations primarily consists of service fees charged at the time a ticket for an event is sold in either the primary or secondary markets, including both online pay-per-view (“PPV”) tickets as well as ticket physically purchased through a ticket sale vendor. For primary tickets sold to the Company’s PPV and festival events the revenue for the associated ticket service charges collected in advance of the event is recorded as deferred revenue until the event occurs. For PPV arrangements that include multiple performance obligations, i.e. delivery of the online stream, sponsorships, digital meet and greet, or physical merchandise, the Company allocates the total contract consideration to each performance obligation using the standalone selling price. If the standalone selling price is not readily determinable, it is estimated using observable inputs including an adjusted market based approach, expected cost plus margin, or the residual approach.

F-9

Net Income (Loss) Per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings (loss) per share is computed using the weighted-average number of common shares and the dilutive effect of contingent shares outstanding during the period. Potentially dilutive contingent shares, which primarily consist of stock options issued to employees, directors and consultants, restricted stock units, warrants issued to third parties and accounted for as equity instruments and convertible notes would be excluded from the diluted earnings per share calculation because their effect is anti-dilutive.

Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders is presented in conformity with the two-class method required for participating securities such as our preferred stock. Under the two-class method, basic and diluted net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders is computed by dividing the basic and diluted net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders by the basic and diluted weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per share attributable to common stockholders adjusts basic net income per share for the potentially dilutive impact of stock options and restricted stock units (RSUs).

The treasury stock method is used to calculate the potentially dilutive effect of stock options and RSUs. The if-converted method is used to calculate the potentially dilutive effect of the Preferred Stock. In both methods, diluted net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders and diluted weighted-average shares outstanding are adjusted to account for the impact of the assumed issuance of potential common shares that are dilutive, subject to dilution sequencing rules.

At June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company had 3,500,191 and 3,152,874 options outstanding, respectively, 1,670,975 and 2,817,292 restricted stock units outstanding, respectively, and none and 5,960,593 shares of common stock issuable, respectively, underlying the Company’s convertible debt.

The following table shows the calculation of diluted shares:

|  | Three Months Ended June 30, |
|  | 2023 |  |  | 2022 |
Shares used in computation of basic earnings per share |  |  | 86,895,208 |  |  |  | 82,072,822 |
Total dilutive effect of outstanding stock awards |  |  | - |  |  |  | 53,800 |
Shares used in computation of diluted earnings per share |  |  | 86,895,208 |  |  |  | 82,126,622 |

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include all highly liquid investments with original maturities, when purchased, of three months or less.

The following table provides amounts included in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash presented in the Company’s condensed consolidated statements of cash flows for the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 (in thousands):

|  | 2023 |  |  | 2022 |
Cash and cash equivalents |  | $ | 4,990 |  |  | $ | 11,086 |
Restricted cash |  |  | 240 |  |  |  | 260 |
Total cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash |  | $ | 5,230 |  |  | $ | 11,346 |

F-10

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company maintains certain letters of credit agreements with its banking provider, which are secured by the Company’s cash for periods of less than one year. As of June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company had restricted cash of $0.2 million and $0.2 million, respectively.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company evaluates the collectability of its accounts receivable based on a combination of factors. Generally, it records specific reserves to reduce the amounts recorded to what it believes will be collected when a customer’s account ages beyond typical collection patterns, or the Company becomes aware of a customer’s inability to meet its financial obligations.

The Company believes that the credit risk with respect to trade receivables is limited due to the large and established nature of its largest customers and the nature of its membership receivables. At June 30, 2023, the Company had one customer that made up 29% of the total accounts receivable balance. At June 30, 2022, the Company had one customer that made up 23% of the total accounts receivable balance.

The Company’s accounts receivable at June 30, 2023 and 2022 is as follows (in thousands):

|  | June 30, |  |  | June 30, |
|  | 2023 |  |  | 2022 |
Accounts receivable, gross |  | $ | 16,605 |  |  | $ | 13,628 |
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts |  |  | (608 | ) |  |  | (914 | )
Accounts receivable, net |  | $ | 15,997 |  |  | $ | 12,714 |

Inventories

Inventories, principally raw materials awaiting final customization process, are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Inventories are relieved on a first-in, first-out basis.

The carrying value of inventories is reduced for any excess and obsolete inventory. Excess and obsolete reductions are determined based on currently available information, including the likely method of disposition, such as through sales to individual customers and liquidations, and the age of inventory.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company maintains cash balances at commercial banks. Cash balances commonly exceed the $250,000 amount insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts, and management believes that the Company is not exposed to any significant credit risk with respect to such cash and cash equivalents.

F-11

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, which requires the measurement and recognition of expected credit losses for financial assets held at amortized cost. It also eliminates the concept of other-than-temporary impairment and requires credit losses related to available-for-sale debt securities to be recorded through an allowance for credit losses rather than as a reduction in the amortized cost basis of the securities. These changes will result in more timely recognition of credit losses. The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022 for SEC filers that are eligible to be smaller reporting companies under the SEC’s definition, and interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company is currently evaluating the impact this guidance will have on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. The Company adopted ASU 2016-13 on April 1, 2021 on a prospective basis. The adoption of this standard did not have an impact on the Company’s interim condensed consolidated financial statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08, Business Combinations (Topic 805), Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers. ASU 2021-08 requires the recognition and measurement of contract assets and contract liabilities acquired in a business combination in accordance with ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Considerations to determine the amount of contract assets and contract liabilities to record at the acquisition date include the terms of the acquired contract, such as timing of payment, identification of each performance obligation in the contract and allocation of the contract transaction price to each identified performance obligation on a relative standalone selling price basis as of contract inception. ASU 2021-08 is effective for the Company beginning in the first quarter of 2023. ASU 2021-08 should be applied prospectively for acquisitions occurring on or after the effective date of the amendments. Early adoption of the proposed amendments would be permitted, including adoption in an interim period. The Company is currently assessing the impact this standard will have on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Other recent accounting pronouncements issued by the FASB, including its Emerging Issues Task Force, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and the SEC did not or are not believed by management to have a material impact on the Company’s present or future consolidated financial statement presentation or disclosures.

Note 3 — Revenue

The following table represents a disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

|  | Three Months Ended June 30, |
|  | 2023 |  |  | 2022 |
Revenue |  |  |  |  |  |
Membership Services |  | $ | 15,212 |  |  | $ | 12,082 |
Advertising |  |  | 10,783 |  |  |  | 8,942 |
Merchandising |  |  | 1,740 |  |  |  | 1,849 |
Sponsorship and Licensing |  |  | 29 |  |  |  | 114 |
Ticket/Event |  |  | 3 |  |  |  | 235 |
Total Revenue |  | $ | 27,767 |  |  | $ | 23,222 |

For some contracts, the Company may invoice up front for services recognized over time or for contracts in which the Company has unsatisfied performance obligations. Payment terms and conditions vary by contract type, although terms generally cover monthly payments. In the circumstances where the timing of invoicing differs from the timing of revenue recognition, the Company has determined its contracts do not include a significant financing component. The Company has elected to apply the practical expedient under ASC 606-10-50-14 and not provide disclosure of the amount and timing of performance obligations as the performance obligations are part of a contract that has an original expected duration of one year or less.

F-12

For the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, one customer accounted for 48% and 43%, and a second customer accounted for none and 48% of the Company’s consolidated revenues, respectively.

The following table summarizes the significant changes in the deferred revenue balances during the three months ended June 30, 2023 (in thousands):

|  | Contract Liabilities |
Balance as of March 31, 2023 |  | $ | 992 |
Revenue recognized that was included in the contract liability at beginning of period |  |  | (392 | )
Increase due to cash received, excluding amounts recognized as revenue during the period |  |  | 368 |
Balance as of June 30, 2023 |  | $ | 968 |

Note 4 — Property and Equipment

The Company’s property and equipment at June 30, 2023 and March 31, 2023 was as follows (in thousands):

|  | June 30, |  |  | March 31, |
|  | 2023 |  |  | 2023 |
Property and equipment, net |  |  |  |  |  |
Computer, machinery, and software equipment |  | $ | 6,546 |  |  | $ | 6,501 |
Furniture and fixtures |  |  | 556 |  |  |  | 556 |
Leasehold improvements |  |  | 531 |  |  |  | 531 |
Capitalized internally developed software |  |  | 15,243 |  |  |  | 14,662 |
Total property and equipment |  |  | 22,876 |  |  |  | 22,250 |
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization |  |  | (19,732 | ) |  |  | (18,925 | )
Total property and equipment, net |  | $ | 3,144 |  |  | $ | 3,325 |

Depreciation expense was $0.8 million and $0.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

F-13

Note 5 — Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill

The Company currently has two reporting units. The following table presents the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the three months ended June 30, 2023 (in thousands):

|  | Goodwill |
Balance as of March 31, 2023 |  | $ | 23,379 |
Acquisitions |  |  | - |
Balance as of June 30, 2023 |  | $ | 23,379 |

Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

The following table presents the changes in the carrying amount of indefinite-lived intangible assets in the Company’s Audio Group segment for the three months ended June 30, 2023 (in thousands):

|  | Tradenames |
Balance as of March 31, 2023 |  | $ | 4,637 |
Acquisitions |  |  | - |
Impairment losses |  |  | - |
Balance as of June 30, 2023 |  | $ | 4,637 |

Finite-Lived Intangible Assets

The Company’s finite-lived intangible assets were as follows as of June 30, 2023 (in thousands):

|  | Gross Carrying Value |  |  | Accumulated Amortization |  |  | Net Carrying Value |
Software |  | $ | 19,281 |  |  | $ | 19,281 |  |  | $ | - |
Intellectual property (patents) |  |  | 5,366 |  |  |  | 1,969 |  |  |  | 3,397 |
Customer relationships |  |  | 6,570 |  |  |  | 6,570 |  |  |  | - |
Content creator relationships |  |  | 772 |  |  |  | 772 |  |  |  | - |
Domain names |  |  | 523 |  |  |  | 149 |  |  |  | 374 |
Brand and trade names |  |  | 1,143 |  |  |  | 374 |  |  |  | 769 |
Customer list |  |  | 2,767 |  |  |  | 1,156 |  |  |  | 1,611 |
Total |  | $ | 36,422 |  |  | $ | 30,271 |  |  | $ | 6,151 |

The Company’s finite-lived intangible assets were as follows as of March 31, 2023 (in thousands):

|  | Gross Carrying Value |  |  | Accumulated Amortization |  |  | Net Carrying Value |
Software |  | $ | 19,281 |  |  | $ | 19,281 |  |  | $ | - |
Intellectual property (patents) |  |  | 5,366 |  |  |  | 1,878 |  |  |  | 3,488 |
Customer relationships |  |  | 6,570 |  |  |  | 6,570 |  |  |  | - |
Content creator relationships |  |  | 772 |  |  |  | 772 |  |  |  | - |
Domain names |  |  | 523 |  |  |  | 137 |  |  |  | 386 |
Brand and trade names |  |  | 1,143 |  |  |  | 347 |  |  |  | 796 |
Customer list |  |  | 2,767 |  |  |  | 1,039 |  |  |  | 1,728 |
Total |  | $ | 36,422 |  |  | $ | 30,024 |  |  | $ | 6,398 |

F-14

The Company’s amortization expense on its finite-lived intangible assets was $0.2 million and $1.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The Company expects to record amortization of intangible assets for fiscal years ending March 31, 2024 and future fiscal years as follows (in thousands):

For Years Ending March 31, |  |  |
2024 (remaining nine months) |  | $ | 741 |
2025 |  |  | 985 |
2026 |  |  | 985 |
2027 |  |  | 977 |
2028 |  |  | 842 |
Thereafter |  |  | 1,621 |
|  | $ | 6,151 |

Note 6 — Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities at June 30, 2023 and March 31, 2023 were as follows (in thousands):

|  | June 30, |  |  | March 31, |
|  | 2023 |  |  | 2023 |
Accounts payable |  | $ | 12,909 |  |  | $ | 10,960 |
Accrued liabilities |  |  | 12,765 |  |  |  | 11,539 |
Lease liabilities, current |  |  | 273 |  |  |  | 273 |
|  | $ | 25,947 |  |  | $ | 22,772 |

Note 7 — Notes Payable

|  | June 30, |  |  | March 31, |
|  | 2023 |  |  | 2023 |
SBA loan |  | $ | 162 |  |  | $ | 163 |
|  |  | 162 |  |  |  | 163 |
Less: Current portion of Notes payable |  |  | (14 | ) |  |  | (15 | )
Notes payable |  | $ | 148 |  |  | $ | 148 |

SBA Loan

On June 17, 2020, the Company received the proceeds from a loan in the amount of less than $0.2 million from the United States. Small Business Administration (the “SBA”). Installment payments, including principal and interest, begin 12-months from the date of the promissory note. The balance is payable 30-years from the date of the promissory note, and bears interest at a rate of 3.75% per annum. The Company was in compliance with all debt covenants associated with the SBA loan as of June 30, 2023.

F-15

Note 8 — PodcastOne Bridge Loan

PodcastOne’s Private Placement

On July 15, 2022 (the “Closing Date”), PodcastOne completed a private placement offering (the “PC1 Bridge Loan”) of PodcastOne’s unsecured convertible notes with an original issue discount of 10% (the “OID”) in the aggregate principal amount of $8.8 million (the “PC1 Notes”) to certain accredited investors and institutional investors (collectively, the “Purchasers”), for gross proceeds of $8.0 million pursuant to the Subscription Agreements entered into with the Purchasers (the “Subscription Agreements”). In connection with the sale of the PC1 Notes, the Purchasers received warrants (the “PC1 Warrants”) to purchase a number of shares (the “PC1 Warrant Shares”) of PodcastOne’s common stock, par value $0.00001 per share. The PC1 Notes mature one year from the Closing Date, subject to a one-time three-month extension at PodcastOne’s election (the “Maturity Date”). The PC1 Notes bear interest at a rate of 10% per annum payable on maturity. The PC1 Notes shall automatically convert into the securities of PodcastOne sold in a Qualified Financing (an initial public offering of PodcastOne’s securities from which PodcastOne’s trading market at the closing of such offering is a national securities exchange) or Qualified Event (a direct listing of PodcastOne’s securities on a national securities exchange), as applicable, upon the closing of a Qualified Financing or Qualified Event, as applicable, at a price per share equal to the lesser of (i) the price equal to $60.0 million divided by the aggregate number of shares of PodcastOne’s common stock outstanding immediately prior to the closing of a Qualified Financing or Qualified Event, as applicable (assuming full conversion or exercise of all convertible and exercisable securities of PodcastOne then outstanding, subject to certain exceptions), and (ii) 70% of the offering price of the shares (or whole units, as applicable) in the Qualified Financing or 70% of the initial listing price of the shares on a national securities exchange in the Qualified Event, as applicable. Each holder of the PC1 Notes (other than the Company) may at such holder’s option require the Company to redeem up to 45% of the principal amount of such holder’s PC1 Notes (together with accrued interest thereon, but excluding the OID), in aggregate up to $3,000,000 for all of the PC1 Notes (other than those held by the Company), immediately prior to the completion of a Qualified Financing or a Qualified Event, as applicable, with such redemption to be made pro rata to the redeeming holders of the PC1 Notes (the “Optional Redemption”).

The Company also agreed (i) not to effect a Qualified Financing or a Qualified Event, as applicable, unless immediately following such event the Company owns no less than 66% of PodcastOne’s equity, unless in either case otherwise permitted by the written consent of the holders of the majority of the PC1 Notes (excluding the Company) (the “Majority Noteholders”) and the senior lender, as applicable, (ii) that until a Qualified Financing or a Qualified Event, as applicable, is consummated, the Company guaranteed the repayment of the PC1 Notes when due (other than the Bridge Notes issued to LiveOne) and any interest or other fees due thereunder, and (iii) that if the Company has not consummated a Qualified Financing or a Qualified Event, as applicable, by February 15, 2023, March 15, 2023 or April 15, 2023, unless in either case permitted by the written consent of the Majority Noteholders, the Company shall be required to redeem $1,000,000 of the then outstanding PC1 Notes (other than the PC1 Notes issued to the Company) by the tenth calendar day of each month immediately following such respective date, up to an aggregate redemption of $3,000,000 over the course of such three months, each of which shall be distributed to the holders of the Bridge Notes (other than LiveOne) on a prorated basis (the “Early Redemption”).

The Company further agreed to register the shares of its common stock issuable upon conversion of the PC1 Notes and exercise of the PC1 Warrants in connection with a Qualified Financing or a Qualified Event. If the Company does not file such registration statement on or prior to April 15, 2023, the Company shall be required to prepay $1,000,000 of the PC1 Notes pro rata to the PC1 Notes holders (other than the Company), and if the Company does not file such registration statement on or prior to July 15, 2023, the Company shall be required to prepay $2,000,000 of the PC1 Notes pro rata to the PC1 Notes holders (other than the Company) (the “Reg St Redemption”). The Company shall not be required to redeem or repay more than a total of $3,000,000 of the principal amount of the PC1 Notes as a result of the Optional Redemption, the Early Redemption and/or the Reg St Redemption.

As part of the PC1 Bridge Loan, the Company purchased $3.0 million (excluding the OID) worth of PC1 Notes which have been eliminated in the consolidation presentation, but otherwise remain issued and outstanding.

Warrants

The PC1 Warrants are classified as liabilities as they represent an obligation to deliver a variable number of shares of common stock in the future and are therefore required to be initially and subsequently measured at fair value each reporting period. The Company recorded a warrant liability in the amount of $1.7 million (and reduced the proceeds allocated to the PC1 Notes accordingly). The fair value of the PC1 Warrant liability is remeasured each reporting period using a Monte Carlo simulation model, and the change in fair value is recorded as an adjustment to the PC1 Warrant liability with the unrealized gains or losses reflected in other income (expense).

F-16

The fair value of the PC1 Warrants is measured in accordance with ASC 820 “Fair Value Measurement”, using “Monte Carlo simulation” modeling, incorporating the following inputs for the periods noted below:

|  | June 30, 2023 |
Expected dividend yield |  |  | - | %
Expected stock-price volatility |  |  | 74.20 | %
Risk-free interest rate |  |  | 4.17 | %
Simulated share price |  | $ | 2.38 |
Exercise price |  | $ | 2.24 |

|  | March 31, 2023 |
Expected dividend yield |  |  | - | %
Expected stock-price volatility |  |  | 71.50 | %
Risk-free interest rate |  |  | 4.86 | %
Simulated share price |  | $ | 2.64 |
Exercise price |  | $ | 2.64 |

Total unrealized gains of $0.6 million for warrant liabilities accounted for as derivatives have been recorded in other expense for the three months ended June 30, 2023 in the accompanying statements of operations. The fair value of the warrant liability as of June 30, 2023 was $1.2 million. The fair value of the warrant liability as of March 31, 2023 was $1.8 million.

Redemption Features

The Company determined that the redemption features associated with the PC1 Bridge Loan meet the accounting definition of an embedded derivative that must be separated from the PC1 Bridge Loan and initially and subsequently be reported as a liability (“the Redemption Liability”) and measured at fair value. The fair value of the Redemption Liability was determined using a Monte Carlo simulation model using three scenarios (1) redemption prior to the initial maturity date (65% weighted), (2) redemption at the initial maturity date (25% weighted) and (3) redemption after the initial maturity date (10% weighted).

F-17

The fair value of the redemption features are measured in accordance with ASC 820 “Fair Value Measurement”, using “Monte Carlo simulation” modeling, incorporating the following inputs for the following periods:

|  | June 30, 2023 |
Simulations |  |  | 100,000 |
Expected stock-price volatility |  |  | 41.00 | %
Risk-free interest rate |  |  | 5.27 | %
Conversion price |  | $ | 1.66 |
Stock price |  | $ | 2.39 |

|  | March 31, 2023 |
Simulations |  |  | 100,000 |
Expected stock-price volatility |  |  | 71.50 | %
Risk-free interest rate |  |  | 3.59 | %
Conversion price |  | $ | 1.78 |
Stock price |  | $ | 2.64 |

The fair value of the Redemption Liability of $0.6 million at June 30, 2023 was recorded as a derivative liability and included in other liabilities in the condensed consolidated balance sheet. The fair value of the Redemption Liability at March 31, 2023 was $1.3 million. The $0.6 million change in the fair value of the Redemption Liability derivative is recorded as an unrealized gain and included in other income in the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of operations for the three months ended June 30, 2023.

The resulting discount from the OID, underwriting fees, PC1 Warrants, and embedded Redemption Liability derivative of $2.8 million is being amortized to interest expense through July 15, 2023, the expected term of the Bridge Loan, using the effective interest method. Interest expense resulting from the amortization of the discount for the three months ended June 30, 2023 was $1.0 million.

In connection with the Financing, the Company announced that it intends to spin-out PodcastOne as a separate public company before the end of its current fiscal year and plans to dividend a portion of PodcastOne’s common equity to the Company’s stockholders as of a future to be determined record date, in each case subject to obtaining applicable approvals and consents, complying with applicable rules and regulations and satisfying applicable public market trading and listing requirements. Among other things, the Company agreed not to effect any Qualified Financing or Qualified Event (each as defined below), as applicable, unless PodcastOne’s post-money valuation at the time of the Qualified Event is at least $150 million.

Interest expense with respect to the PC1 Bridge Loan for the three months ended June 30, 2023 was $0.1 million. There are no restrictive operational covenants associated with the PC1 Bridge Loan.

During the three months ended June 30, 2023, the Company repaid $3.0 million of the PC1 Bridge Loan to third-party holders of PC1 Notes. At June 30, 2023, the outstanding principal balance was $2.8 million and unamortized discount was $0.1 million, with net balance of $2.7 million.

F-18

On June 7, 2023, PodcastOne received a written notice from District 2 Capital Fund LP, in its capacity as a noteholder and noteholder agent for the Purchasers(the “Noteholders Agent”), that the Noteholder Agent alleges that an event of default has occurred with respect to the Subscription Agreements and the related PC1 Notes (the “Notice”). The Notice indicates that an event of default has occurred as a result of PodcastOne not timely making the third redemption payment by June 3, 2023 under the terms of the Notes and the Subscription Agreements (the "Payment"), which payment the Notice states the Purchasers received on June 5, 2023, and provides that as a result the Noteholders Agent has declared all outstanding indebtedness represented by the PC1 Notes (other than the Company) to be immediately due and payable at the Mandatory Default Amount (as defined in the PC1 Notes), together with all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses of collection thereof, and that beginning from June 4, 2023, the outstanding principal amount of the PC1 Notes began accruing interest at a rate per annum equal to 16%, and demands for such payments to be immediately made in full to each Purchaser (other than the Company).

The Company and PodcastOne strongly disagree with the claims in the Notice that an event of default has occurred and in good faith believe that an event of default has not occurred and assert that the Payment was timely made on June 3, 2023, that no event of default has occurred or is continuing, and consequently the demand for payment in the Notice is invalid. Accordingly the Company and PodcastOne believe that no further payments are required to the Purchasers until the maturity of the PC1 Notes, subject to their earlier automatic conversion upon the closing of a Qualified Financing or Qualified Event. The Company and PodcastOne have invited the Purchasers Agent to immediately reconsider and to rescind its Notice and request for payment.

Note 9 — Senior Secured Revolving Line of Credit

On June 2, 2021, the Company entered into a Business Loan Agreement with East West Bank (the “Senior Lender”), which provides for a revolving credit facility collateralized by all of the assets of the Company and its subsidiaries. In connection with the Business Loan Agreement, the Company entered into a Promissory Note with the Senior Lender and established the revolving line of credit in the amount of $7.0 million (the “Revolving Credit Facility”), maturing on June 2, 2023.

In July 2022, the Company extended the maturity date of its revolving credit facility to June 2024 and its variable interest rate was increased to 2.5%. The Revolving Credit Facility bears interest at a variable rate equal to the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate, plus 2.5%. The interest rate for the period ended June 30, 2023 was 11.00%.

The principal balance under the Revolving Credit Facility as of June 30, 2023 was $7.0 million. The Company recorded interest expense of $0.2 million and $0.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. As of June 30, 2023 the Company was not in compliance with a financial covenant under the Revolving Credit Facility but is in the process of obtaining a waiver from the Senior Lender to remove the non-compliance.

Note 10 — Related Party Transactions

As of March 31, 2022, the Company had unsecured convertible Trinad Notes outstanding which were issued to Trinad Capital. In February 2023, the Trinad Notes along with accrued interest were converted into 6,177 shares of Series A Preferred Stock in addition to 200,000 shares of common stock. 6,177 shares of Series A Preferred Stock was outstanding as of June 30, 2023.

Note 11 — Leases

The Company leases a space at a location under a non-cancellable operating lease with a remaining lease term of 1 year, which originally expired in fiscal year 2022 and was renewed for an additional year. On December 22, 2020, the Company acquired CPS which included the assumption of an operating lease for a 55,120 square foot light manufacturing facility located in Addison Illinois, expiring June 30, 2024.

The Company leases several office locations with lease terms that are less than 12 months or are on month to month terms. Rent expense for these leases totaled less than $0.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Operating leases with lease terms of greater than 12 months are capitalized in operating lease right-of-use assets and operating lease liabilities in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets. Rent expense for these operating leases totaled $0.1 million during each of the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

F-19

Operating lease costs for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 consisted of the following (in thousands):

|  | Three Months Ended June 30, |  |  | Three Months Ended June 30, |
|  | 2023 |  |  | 2022 |
Fixed rent cost |  | $ | 159 |  |  |  | 106 |
Short term lease cost |  |  | 48 |  |  |  | 48 |
Total operating lease cost |  | $ | 207 |  |  |  | 154 |

Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases was as follows (in thousands):

Operating leases |  | June 30, 2023 |  |  | March 31, 2023 |
Operating lease right-of-use assets |  | $ | 342 |  |  |  | 423 |
Operating lease liability, current |  | $ | 273 |  |  |  | 273 |
Operating lease liability, noncurrent |  |  | 80 |  |  |  | 161 |
Total operating lease liabilities |  | $ | 353 |  |  |  | 434 |

The operating lease right-of-use assets are included in other assets and current operating lease liabilities are included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets.

Maturities of operating lease liabilities as of June 30, 2023 were as follows (in thousands):

For Years Ending March 31, |  |  |
2024 (remaining nine months) |  | $ | 235 |
2025 |  |  | 154 |
Total lease payments |  |  | 389 |
Less: imputed interest |  |  | (36 | )
Present value of operating lease liabilities |  | $ | 353 |

Significant judgments

Discount rate – the Company’s lease is discounted using the Company’s incremental borrowing rate of 8.5% as the rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

Options – the lease term is the minimum noncancelable period of the lease. The Company does not include option periods unless the Company determined it is reasonably certain of exercising the option at inception or when a triggering event occurs.

Lease and non-lease components – Non lease components were considered and determined not to be material

Month to month arrangements

React Presents leased its Chicago, Illinois premises under a month-to-month lease that was terminated in April 2022. Rent expense for this operating lease totaled less than $0.1 million and $0.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

PodcastOne leases its Los Angeles premises under a month-to-month operating lease. Rent expense for this operating lease totaled $0.1 million and $0.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

F-20

Note 12 — Other Long-Term Liabilities

Other long-term liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):

|  | June 30, 2023 |  |  | March 31, 2023 |
Contingent consideration from Gramophone acquisition |  | $ | 174 |  |  | $ | 174 |
Accrued royalties |  |  | 4,535 |  |  |  | 3,788 |
Accrued legal |  |  | 4,865 |  |  |  | 5,616 |
Total other long-term liabilities |  | $ | 9,574 |  |  | $ | 9,578 |

The Company classified $3.8 million of accrued royalties into long term based on contractual arrangements with the royalty holders. In addition, the Company accrued $5.6 million into long term liabilities as a result of the Sound Exchange settlement (Note 13 – Commitment and Contingencies). The amount included in Other long-term liabilities is comprised of a contingent consideration liability resulting from the business combination of Gramophone (see Note 17 - Fair Value Measurements).

Note 13 — Commitments and Contingencies

Contractual Obligations

As of June 30, 2023, the Company is obligated under agreements with Content Providers and other contractual obligations to make guaranteed payments as follows: $8.6 million for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2024, $1.6 million for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2025 and, $0.3 million for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2026.

On a quarterly basis, the Company records the greater of the cumulative actual content acquisition costs incurred or the cumulative minimum guarantee based on forecasted usage for the minimum guarantee period. The minimum guarantee period of time is the period that the minimum guarantee relates to, as specified in each agreement, which may be annual or a longer period. The cumulative minimum guarantee, based on forecasted usage, considers factors such as listening hours, revenue, members, and other terms of each agreement that impact the Company’s expected attainment or recoupment of the minimum guarantees based on the relative attribution method.

Several of the Company’s content acquisition agreements also include provisions related to the royalty payments and structures of those agreements relative to other content licensing arrangements, which, if triggered, could cause the Company’s payments under those agreements to escalate, which included payments to be made in common stock. In addition, record labels, publishers and performing rights organizations with whom the Company has entered into direct license agreements have the right to audit the Company’s content acquisition payments, and any such audit could result in disputes over whether the Company has paid the proper content acquisition costs. However, as of June 30, 2023, the Company does not believe it is probable that these provisions of its agreements discussed above will, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on its business, financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

On August 4, 2022, the Company entered into a settlement agreement with a certain music partner attributed to past royalties owed. The Company issued 800,000 shares of its common stock to the music partner and settled $0.4 million of accounts payable with the remaining value of the shares attributed to prepayment for future royalties. The fair value of the shares was determined to be $1.0 million based on the Company’s share price at the date the shares were issued. As of June 30, 2023, $0.3 million was recorded as a prepaid asset related to this transaction in order to fund future amounts owed for royalties. If the agreement is not terminated by the music partner after one year, the Company will issue an additional 200,000 shares as prepayment of future royalties.

F-21

Employment Agreements

As of June 30, 2023, the Company has employment agreements with three named executive officers (“Section 16 Officers”) that provide salary payments of $0.5 million and target bonus compensation of up to $0.5 million on an annual basis. Furthermore, such employment agreements contain severance clauses that could require severance payments in the aggregate amount of $10.5 million (excluding the value of potential payouts of discretionary bonuses, pro-rata bonuses, and potential accelerated vesting of equity awards granted to such executive officers).

The Company’s CEO has agreed to forgive his salary of $0.5 million per annum in exchange for shares of the Company’s common stock and/or restricted stock units to be issued in the future. As of June 30, 2023, the Company’s board of directors has not yet determined the number of shares of the Company’s common stock and/or restricted stock units to be issued to the CEO as such compensation.

Legal Proceedings

On April 10, 2018, Joseph Schnaier, Danco Enterprises, LLC (an entity solely owned by Mr. Schnaier, “Danco”), Wantmcs Holdings, LLC (Mr. Schnaier is the managing member) and Wantickets (Mr. Schnaier is the 90% beneficial owner) filed a complaint in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of New York against the Company, LiveXLive Tickets, Inc. (“LXL Tickets”), Robert S. Ellin and certain other defendants. Plaintiffs subsequently voluntarily dismissed all claims against the other defendants. The complaint alleged multiple causes of action arising out of Schnaier’s investment (through Danco) into the Company in 2016, LXL Tickets’ purchase of certain operating assets of Wantickets pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 5, 2017, and Mr. Schnaier’s employment with LXL Tickets, including claims for fraudulent inducement, breach of contract, conversion, and defamation. Based on the remaining claims, plaintiffs are seeking damages of approximately $10.0 million as shall be determined at trial, if any, plus interest, attorneys’ fees and costs and other such relief as the court may award. The Company has denied and continues to deny plaintiffs’ claims. The Company believes that the complaint is an intentional act by the plaintiffs to publicly tarnish the Company’s and its senior management’s reputations through the public domain in an effort to obtain by threat of litigation certain results for Mr. Schnaier’s self-serving and improper purposes. The Company is vigorously defending this lawsuit and believes that the allegations are without merit and that it has strong defenses. On June 26, 2018, the Company and LXL Tickets, filed counterclaims against the plaintiffs for breach of contract (including under the Asset Purchase Agreement), fraudulent inducement, and other causes of action, seeking injunctive relief, damages, attorneys’ fees and expenses and such other relief as the court may award. In October 2018, pursuant to the terms of the APA, the Company submitted a formal demand to Wantickets, Mr. Schnaier and Danco to indemnify the Company, among other things, for its costs and expenses incurred in connection with this matter. In November 2021, the court denied the Company’s summary judgment motion to dismiss plaintiffs’ fraudulent inducement claim and dismissed plaintiff’s breach of the employment agreement claim with respect to the Company. On October 6, 2022, New York Appellate Division reversed the trial court’s decision and ordered that defendants’ motion for summary judgment dismissing the first and second causes of action should be granted. As of December 31, 2022, all of plaintiffs’ claims were dismissed or addressed by the parties or the court other than plaintiffs’ claims for fraudulent inducement related to payment of Wantickets’ audit costs, breach of contract based on Mr. Schnaier’s employment agreement with LXL Tickets, and fraudulent inducement due to plaintiffs alleged inability to sell their shares of Company’s common stock acquired pursuant to the APA. The trial was held in late April and early May 2023. In May 2023, the Company achieved a favorable outcome in this lawsuit, as the jury awarded damages to LXL Tickets in the amount of $0.23 million, together with costs and disbursements as taxed by the clerk and with statutory interest at 9% per annum from November 22, 2018, versus damages in the amount of $0.15 million, together with costs and disbursements as taxed by the clerk and with statutory interest at 9% per annum from June 29, 2018 awarded to the plaintiffs. Neither amount is material to the Company. The plaintiffs have indicated their intent to appeal certain rulings in this matter. As of August 7, 2023, the plaintiffs have yet to file the appeal. The Company intends to continue to vigorously defend all remaining defendants, if necessary, against any liability to the plaintiffs with respect to the remaining claims, and the Company believes that the allegations are without merit and that it has strong defenses. As of June 30, 2023, while the Company has assessed that the likelihood of a loss, if any, is not probable, the outcome of this lawsuit is inherently uncertain and the potential range of loss could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

F-22

During each of the quarters ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company recorded legal settlement expenses relating to potential claims arising in connection with litigation brought against the Company by certain third parties that were not material and were included in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.

From time to time, the Company is involved in legal proceedings and other matters arising in connection with the conduct of its business activities. Many of these proceedings may be at preliminary stages and/or seek an indeterminate amount of damages. In the opinion of management, after consultation with legal counsel, such routine claims and lawsuits are not significant and we do not currently expect them to have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, or liquidity.

The CARES Act

The CARES Act, passed in March 2020 and subsequently amended in 2021, allowed eligible employers to take credit up to 70% of qualified wages if the Company experienced either a full or partial suspension of the operation due to COVID related government orders. During the year ended March 31, 2022, the Company, with the guidance from a third-party specialist, determined it was entitled to $2.0 in employee retention credits for the previous business interruption related to COVID. The Company did not receive any proceeds during the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively

Note 14 — Employee Benefit Plan

The Company sponsors a 401(k) plan (the “401(k) Plan”) covering all employees. Prior to March 31, 2019, only Slacker employees were eligible to participate in the 401(k) Plan. Employees are eligible to participate in the 401(k) Plan the first day of the calendar month following their date of hire. The Company may make discretionary matching contributions to the 401(k) Plan on behalf of its employees up to a maximum of 100% of the participant’s elective deferral up to a maximum of 5% of the employees’ annual compensation. The Company’s matching contributions were not material to the financial statements for the three month periods ended June 30, 2023 and 2022.

Note 15 — Stockholders’ Deficit

Authorized Common Stock and Authority to Create Preferred Stock

The Company has the authority to issue up to 510,000,000 shares, consisting of 500,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, $0.001 par value per share, and 10,000,000 shares of the Company’s preferred stock, $0.001 par value per share (the “preferred stock”).

The Company may issue shares of preferred stock from time to time in one or more series, each of which will have such distinctive designation or title as shall be determined by the Company’s board of directors and will have such voting powers, full or limited, or no voting powers, and such preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights and such qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, as shall be stated in the resolution or resolutions providing for the issue of such class or series of preferred stock as may be adopted from time to time by the Company’s board of directors. The Company’s board of directors will have the power to increase or decrease the number of shares of preferred stock of any series after the issuance of shares of that series, but not below the number of shares of such series then outstanding. In case the number of shares of any series shall be decreased, the shares constituting such decrease will resume the status of authorized but unissued shares of preferred stock.

It is not possible to state the actual effect of the issuance of any shares of preferred stock on the rights of holders of the common stock until and unless the Company’s board of directors determines the specific rights of the holders of the preferred stock; however, these effects may include: restricting dividends on the common stock, diluting the voting power of the common stock, impairing the liquidation rights of the common stock, or delaying or preventing a change in control of the Company without further action by the stockholders.

F-23

Stock Repurchase Program

In December 2020, the Company announced that its board of directors has authorized the repurchase up to two million shares of its outstanding common stock from time to time. In November 2022, the Company announced that its board of directors has authorized it to expand its stock repurchase program by up to an additional $2,000,000 worth of shares of its common stock to be repurchased from time to time. The timing, price, and quantity of purchases under the program will be at the discretion of our management and will depend upon a variety of factors including share price, general and business market conditions, compliance with applicable laws and regulations, corporate and regulatory requirements, and alternative uses of capital. The program may be expanded, suspended, or discontinued by our board of directors at any time. Although our board of directors has authorized this stock repurchase program, there is no guarantee as to the exact number of shares, if any, that will be repurchased by us, and we may discontinue purchases at any time that management determines additional purchases are not warranted. We cannot guarantee that the program will be consummated, fully or all, or that it will enhance long-term stockholder value. The program could affect the trading price of our common stock and increase volatility, and any announcement of a termination of this program may result in a decrease in the trading price of our common stock. In addition, this program could diminish our cash reserves. The Company purchased 694,315 and no shares of its common stock under the stock repurchase program for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, for a total of $1.0 million and none, respectively.

Series A Preferred Stock

The Series A Preferred Stock is convertible at any time at a Holder’s option into shares of the Company’s common stock, at a price of $2.10 per share of common stock, bears a dividend of 12% per annum, is perpetual and has no maturity date. At the option of the Company, the dividend may be paid in-kind for the first 12 months after the Effective Date, and thereafter, the Holders shall have the option to select whether subsequent dividend payments shall be paid in kind or in cash; provided, that as long as any Series A Preferred Stock is held by the “Harvest Funds”, Trinad Capital shall receive the dividend solely in kind. The Series A Preferred Stock shall have no voting rights, except as set forth in the Certificate of Designation or as otherwise required by law.

The Company may, at its option (the “Optional Redemption Right”), on or before the Mandatory Redemption Date (as defined herein), purchase up to $5,000,000 in aggregate of the then outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock held by the Harvest Funds at a cash redemption price per share of Series A Preferred Stock equal to the Stated Value (the “Redemption Price”). The Company shall be required on or before the 18-month anniversary of the Effective Date (the “Mandatory Redemption Date”), and in any event if prior to the Mandatory Redemption Date the Company consummates any financing transaction in which the Company, directly or indirectly, raises, in aggregate, gross proceeds of more than $20,000,000 of new capital, to purchase $5,000,000 in aggregate of the then outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock held by the Harvest Funds (the “Mandatory Redemption Amount”) at the Redemption Price (the “Mandatory Redemption”). If the Optional Redemption Right is exercised up to the full $5,000,000 amount, the Mandatory Redemption requirement shall be terminated; provided, that if the Optional Redemption Right is exercised in any amount less than $5,000,000, the Mandatory Redemption Amount shall be reduced by the amount that the Optional Redemption Right has been elected and exercised. Without the prior express consent of the majority of the votes entitled to be cast by the holders of Series A Preferred Stock outstanding at the time of such vote (the “Majority Holders”), the Company shall not authorize or issue any additional or other shares of its capital stock that are (i) of senior rank to the Series A Preferred Stock or (ii) of pari passu rank to the Series A Preferred Stock, in each case in respect of the preferences as to dividends, distributions and payments upon the liquidation, dissolution and winding up of the Corporation.

Pursuant to the Exchange Agreements, the Company agreed that at any time that any of the shares of Series A Preferred Stock issued to the Harvest Funds are outstanding, (i) to directly or through its 100% owned subsidiaries (as applicable), to own on a fully diluted basis at least 66% of the total equity and voting rights of any and all classes of securities of each of PodcastOne, Slacker, PPV One, Inc., and LiveXLive Events, LLC subsidiaries of the Company, (ii) not to issue shares of its common stock or convertible equity securities at a price less than $2.10 per share (subject to certain exceptions), provided, that such consent shall not be required in connection with any merger, acquisition or other business combinations of the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries with any unaffiliated third party, (iii) not to raise more than an aggregate of $20,000,000 of capital in one or more offerings, including without limitation, one or more equity or debt offerings or a combination thereof, on an accumulated basis commencing after the Effective Date (the “Qualified Offering”); provided, that such consent shall not be required for any equity financing of the Company at a price of $2.25 per share or above, and (iv) if after the Effective Date the Company distributes any of its assets or any shares of its common stock or Common Stock Equivalents (as defined in the Exchange agreements) of any of its subsidiaries pro rata to the record holders of any class of shares of its common stock, the Company shall distribute to the Holders its pro rata portion of any such distribution (calculated on an as-converted basis with respect to the then outstanding Series A Preferred Stock) concurrently with the distribution to the then record holders of any class of its common stock (including an applicable distribution of shares of PodcastOne’s common stock to the Harvest Funds in connection with the Company’s recently announced spin-out and special dividend of PodcastOne’s common stock to the Company’s stockholders of record), in each case without the Majority Holders’ prior written consent. Any breach of the aforementioned covenants shall constitute a material breach, which if uncured, shall result in the issuance of an aggregate of 56,473 shares of the Company’s restricted common stock (the “Default Shares”) to the Holders for each five trading days (or pro rata thereof) after the date of the breach; provided, that if such breach is cured within the applicable cure period, no Default Shares shall be issued.

F-24

In accordance with ASC 480, the Company classified $5.0 million of its Series A Preferred Stock as temporary equity due to the Company’s obligation to redeem $5.0 million of the Series A Preferred Stock on or before 18 months after issuance for cash, which also contains a substantive conversion feature. The redemption feature was not deemed to be closely and clearly related to the equity-type host instrument. Accordingly, it was accounted for as a liability at inception based on its fair value of $0.2 million with subsequent changes in fair value included in earnings. The change in fair value of the embedded derivative included in the statement of earnings was $0.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023. The fair value of the derivative as of June 30, 2023 and March 31, 2023 was $0.9 million and $0.4 million, respectively.

In accordance with ASC 480, the Company classified $16.2 million of the Series A Preferred Stock as permanent equity in the financial statements as it was not subject to mandatory redemption at the option of the holder. The Company concluded that the Series A Preferred Stock is more akin to an equity-type instrument than a debt-type instrument, therefore the conversion features associated with the Series A preferred stock classified as permanent equity were deemed to be clearly and closely related to the host instrument and not a derivative under ASC 815. Accordingly the Series A Preferred Stock was not accreted to the redemption amount in effect on the balance sheet date.

Each share of Series A Preferred Stock is entitled to receive cumulative dividends payable at a rate per annum of 12% of the Series A Stated Value.

2016 Equity Incentive Plan

The Company’s board of directors and stockholders approved the Company’s 2016 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (the “2016 Plan”) which reserved a total of 12,600,000 shares of the Company’s common stock for issuance. On September 17, 2020, our stockholders approved the amendment to the 2016 Plan to increase the number of shares available for issuance under the plan by 5,000,000 shares increasing the total up to 17,600,000 shares which the Company formally increased on June 30, 2021. Incentive awards authorized under the 2016 Plan include, but are not limited to, nonqualified stock options, incentive stock options, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units, performance grants intended to comply with Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and stock appreciation rights. If an incentive award granted under the 2016 Plan expires, terminates, is unexercised or is forfeited, or if any shares are surrendered to the Company in connection with the exercise of an incentive award, the shares subject to such award and the surrendered shares will become available for further awards under the 2016 Plan.

The Company recognized share-based compensation expense of $0.9 million and $0.8 million during the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The total tax benefit recognized related to share-based compensation expense was none for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022.

Note 16 — Business Segments and Geographic Reporting

The Company determined its operating segments in accordance with ASC 280, “Segment Reporting” (“ASC 280”).

F-25

Beginning in the second quarter of fiscal 2023, management has determined that the Company has two operating segments (Audio Group and Media Group). The Audio Group consist of our PodcastOne and Slacker subsidiaries and the Media Group consist of our remaining subsidiaries. As a result of the PC1 Bridge Loan and the potential for a spin-off of PodcastOne the Company’s chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) began to make decisions and allocate resources based on two operating segments of the business (Audio and Media). The Company’s reporting segments reflects the manner in which its CODM reviews results and allocates resources. The CODM reviews operating segment performance exclusive of share-based compensation expense, amortization of intangible assets, depreciation, and other expenses (including legal fees, expenses, and accruals) related to acquisitions, associated integration activities, and certain other non-cash charges. As a result, the segment information for the prior periods has been recast to confirm with the current period presentation.

The Company’s two operating segments are also consistent with its internal organizational structure, which is the way the Company assesses operating performance and allocates resources.

Customers

The Company has one external customer that accounts for more than 10% of its revenue and accounts receivable. Such original equipment manufacturer (the “OEM”) provides premium Slacker service in its new vehicles. Total revenues from the OEM were $13.3 million and $10.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Total receivables from the OEM were 29% and 23% of total accounts receivable as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Segment and Geographic Information

The Company’s operations are based in the United States. All material revenues of the Company are derived from the United States. All long-lived assets of the Company are located in the United States, of which $2.5 million resides in the Audio Group and $0.6 million is attributed to our Media Operations.

We manage our working capital on a consolidated basis. Accordingly, segment assets are not reported to, or used by, our management to allocate resources to or assess performance of our segments, and therefore, total segment assets and related depreciation and amortization have not been presented.

The following table presents the results of operations for our reportable segments for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022:

|  | Three months ended June 30, 2023 |
|  | Audio |  |  | Media |  |  | Corporate expenses |  |  | Total |
Revenue |  | $ | 25,713 |  |  | $ | 2,054 |  |  | $ | - |  |  | $ | 27,767 |
Net income (loss) |  | $ | 3,174 |  |  | $ | (848 | ) |  | $ | (2,841 | ) |  | $ | (515 | )

|  | Three months ended June 30, 2022 |
|  | Audio |  |  | Media |  |  | Corporate expenses |  |  | Total |
Revenue |  | $ | 20,807 |  |  | $ | 2,416 |  |  | $ | - |  |  | $ | 23,322 |
Net income (loss) |  | $ | 2,763 |  |  | $ | (524 | ) |  | $ | (891 | ) |  | $ | 1,348 |

F-26

Geographic Information

All material revenues of the Company are derived from the United States. All long-lived assets of the Company are located in the United States.

Note 17 — Fair Value Measurements

The following table presents the fair value of the Company’s financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis (in thousands):

|  | June 30, 2023 |
|  | Fair |  |  | Hierarchy Level |
|  | Value |  |  | Level 1 |  |  | Level 2 |  |  | Level 3 |
Assets: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Prepaid expenses - common stock issued subject to market adjustment at settlement |  | $ | 320 |  |  | $ | 320 |  |  | $ | - |  |  | $ | - |
Total |  | $ | 320 |  |  | $ | 320 |  |  | $ | - |  |  | $ | - |
Liabilities: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Contingent consideration liability from Gramophone acquisition |  | $ | 174 |  |  | $ | - |  |  | $ | - |  |  | $ | 174 |
Warrant liability on PodcastOne bridge loan |  |  | 1,249 |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | 1,249 |
Bifurcated embedded derivative on PodcastOne bridge loan |  |  | 590 |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | 590 |
Bifurcated embedded derivative on Series A Preferred Stock |  |  | 859 |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | 859 |
|  | $ | 2,872 |  |  | $ | - |  |  | $ | - |  |  | $ | 2,872 |

|  | March 31, 2023 |
|  | Fair |  |  | Hierarchy Level |
|  | Value |  |  | Level 1 |  |  | Level 2 |  |  | Level 3 |
Assets: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Prepaid expenses - common stock issued subject to market adjustment at settlement |  | $ | 140 |  |  | $ | 140 |  |  | $ | - |  |  | $ | - |
Total |  | $ | 140 |  |  | $ | 140 |  |  | $ | - |  |  | $ | - |
Liabilities: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Contingent consideration liability from Gramophone acquisition |  | $ | 174 |  |  | $ | - |  |  | $ | - |  |  | $ | 174 |
Warrant liability on PodcastOne bridge loan |  |  | 1,860 |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | 1,860 |
Bifurcated embedded derivative on PodcastOne bridge loan |  |  | 1,288 |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | 1,288 |
Bifurcated embedded derivative on Series A Preferred Stock |  |  | 376 |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | - |  |  |  | 376 |
|  | $ | 3,698 |  |  | $ | - |  |  | $ | - |  |  | $ | 3,698 |

The following table presents a reconciliation of the Company’s financial liabilities that are measured at Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy (in thousands):

|  | Amount |
Balance as of March 31, 2023 |  | $ | 3,698 |
Change in fair value of bifurcated embedded derivatives, reported in earnings |  |  | (826 | )
Change in fair value of contingent consideration liabilities, reported in earnings |  |  | - |
Balance as of June 30, 2023 |  | $ | 2,872 |

F-27

The Company did not elect the fair value measurement option for the following financial assets or liabilities. The fair values of certain financial instruments measured at amortized cost and the hierarchy level the Company used to estimate the fair values are shown below (in thousands):

|  | June 30, 2023 |
|  | Carrying |  |  | Hierarchy Level |
|  | Value |  |  | Level 1 |  |  | Level 2 |  |  | Level 3 |
Liabilities: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
PodcastOne bridge loan |  | $ | 2,711 |  |  | $ | - |  |  | $ | - |  |  | $ | 4,245 |

|  | March 31, 2023 |
|  | Carrying |  |  | Hierarchy Level |
|  | Value |  |  | Level 1 |  |  | Level 2 |  |  | Level 3 |
Liabilities: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
PodcastOne bridge loan |  | $ | 4,726 |  |  | $ | - |  |  | $ | - |  |  | $ | 9,152 |

Note 18 — Subsequent Events

Shares Repurchase

Subsequent to June 30, 2023 and as of August 14, 2023, the Company repurchased 60,180 shares of its common stock at an average price of $1.85 per share. In July 2023, the Company’s board of directors approved an increase of $2.0 million to the share repurchase program.

Guru Fantasy Reports Letter of Intent

On June 20, 2023, LiveXLive entered into a binding letter of intent to acquire Guru Fantasy Reports, Inc. (“Guru Reports”) in consideration of $3.5 million, plus such additional consideration as may be required pursuant the letter of intent, to be paid in shares of common stock of PodcastOne, with the closing of the acquisition subject to standard and other closing conditions as set forth therein. If completed, the number of shares of common stock of PodcastOne will be based on a price of $8.00 per share. As of August 14, 2023, this proposed acquisition has not been completed.

Loan and Security Agreement

In August 2023, the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement with Capchase Inc. (“Capchase”) pursuant to which the Company borrowed the amount of $1.7 million to further develop and acquire certain podcasts acquired by PodcastOne and for general working capital. The debt is subordinated to the Revolving Credit Facility and bears an interest rate of 9%, which is included in the monthly amortization payments of approximately $73,100, with the final amortization payment due on February 4, 2026.

F-28

Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

As used herein, “LiveOne,” the “Company,” “we,” “our” or “us” and similar terms include LiveOne, Inc. and its subsidiaries, unless the context indicates otherwise. The following discussion and analysis of our business and results of operations for the three months ended June 30, 2023, and our financial conditions at that date, should be read in conjunction with our condensed consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (this “Quarterly Report”).

Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements contained in this Quarterly Report that are not statements of historical fact constitute “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, notwithstanding that such statements are not specifically identified. These forward-looking statements relate to expectations or forecasts for future events, including without limitation our earnings, revenues, expenses or other future financial or business performance or strategies, or the impact of legal or regulatory matters on our business, results of operations or financial condition. These statements may be preceded by, followed by or include the words “may,” “might,” “will,” “would,” “could,” “should,” “will likely result,” “estimate,” “plan,” “project,” “forecast,” “intend,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “seek,” “continue,” “target” or the negative or other variations thereof or comparable terminology. These forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and are based on information available to us as of the date of this Quarterly Report and on our current expectations, forecasts and assumptions, and involve substantial risks and uncertainties. Actual results may vary materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements herein due to a variety of factors, including: our reliance on one key customer for a substantial percentage of our revenue; our ability to consummate any proposed financing, acquisition, spin-out, special dividend, distribution or transaction, including the proposed special dividend and spin-out of PodcastOne or its pay-per-view business, the timing of the consummation of such proposed event, including the risks that a condition to consummation of such proposed event would not be satisfied within the expected timeframe or at all or that the consummation of any proposed financing, acquisition, spin-out, special dividend, distribution or transaction, the timing of the consummation of such proposed event will not occur; PodcastOne’s and/or Slacker’s ability to list on a national exchange; our ability to continue as a going concern; our reliance on one key customer for a substantial percentage of our revenue; if and when required, our ability to obtain additional capital, including to fund our current debt obligations and to fund potential acquisitions and capital expenditures; our ability to attract, maintain and increase the number of our users and paid members; our ability to identify, acquire, secure and develop content; our ability to successfully implement our growth strategy, our ability to acquire and integrate our acquired businesses, the ability of the combined business to grow, including through acquisitions which we are able to successfully integrate, and the ability of our executive officers to manage growth profitably; uncertain and unfavorable outcome(s) of any legal proceedings pending or that may be instituted against us, our subsidiaries, or third parties to whom we owe indemnification obligations; changes in laws or regulations that apply to us or our industry; our ability to recognize and timely implement future technologies in the music and live streaming space; our ability to capitalize on investments in developing our service offerings, including the LiveOne App to deliver and develop upon current and future technologies; significant product development expenses associated with our technology initiatives; our ability to deliver end-to-end network performance sufficient to meet increasing customer demands; our ability to timely and economically obtain necessary approval(s), releases and or licenses on a timely basis for the use of our music content on our service platform; our ability to obtain and maintain international authorizations to operate our service over the proper foreign jurisdictions our customers utilize; our ability to expand our service offerings and deliver on our service roadmap; our ability to timely and cost-effectively produce, identify and or deliver compelling content that brands will advertise on and or customers will purchase and or subscribe to across our platform; general economic and technological circumstances in the music and live streaming digital markets; our ability to obtain and maintain licenses for content used on legacy music platforms; the loss of, or failure to realize benefits from, agreements with our music labels, publishers and partners; unfavorable economic conditions in the airline industry and economy as a whole; our ability to expand our domestic or international operations, including our ability to grow our business with current and potential future music labels, festivals, publishers, or partners; the effects of service interruptions or delays, technology failures, material defects or errors in our software, damage to our equipment or geopolitical restrictions; costs associated with defending pending or future intellectual property infringement actions and other litigation or claims; increases in our projected capital expenditures due to, among other things, unexpected costs incurred in connection with the roll out of our technology roadmap or our plans of expansion in North America and internationally; fluctuation in our operating results; the demand for live and music streaming services and market acceptance for our products and services; our ability to generate sufficient cash flow to make payments on our indebtedness; our incurrence of additional indebtedness in the future; our ability to repay the convertible notes at maturity; the effect of the conditional conversion feature of our Series A Preferred Stock; our compliance with the covenants in our debt agreements; our intent to repurchase shares of our common stock from time to time under our announced stock repurchase program and the timing, price, and quantity of repurchases, if any, under the program the effects of the global COVID-19 pandemic; risks and uncertainties applicable to the businesses of our subsidiaries; and other risks and uncertainties set forth herein. Other factors that could cause actual results to differ from those discussed in the forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, those set forth below in Part II – Item 1A. Risk Factors of this Quarterly Report and in Part I – Item 1A. Risk Factors of our 2023 Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on June 29, 2023 (the “2023 Form 10-K”), as well as other factors and matters described herein or in the annual, quarterly and other reports we file with the SEC. Except as required by law, we do not undertake any obligation to update forward-looking statements as a result of as a result of new information, future events or developments or otherwise.

2

Overview of the Company

We are a pioneer in the acquisition, distribution and monetization of live music, Internet radio, podcasting and music-related streaming and video content. Our principal operations and decision-making functions are located in North America. We manage and report our businesses as a single operating segment. Our senior management regularly reviews our operating results, principally to make decisions about how we allocate our resources and to measure our segment and consolidated operating performance. In prior fiscal years we generated a majority of our revenue primarily through membership services from our streaming radio and music services, and to a lesser extent through advertising and licensing across our music platform. In the fourth quarter of our fiscal year ended March 31, 2020, we began generating ticketing, sponsorship, and promotion-related revenue from live music events through our February 2020 acquisition of React Presents. In May 2020, we launched a new pay-per-view (“PPV”) offering enabling new forms of artist revenue including digital tickets, tipping, digital meet and greets, merchandise sales and sponsorship. In July 2020, we entered the podcasting business with the acquisition of PodcastOne and in December 2020, we entered the merchandising business with the acquisition of CPS. In October 2021, we entered artist and brand development and music-related press relations business through our acquisition of Gramophone.

For the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, we reported revenue of $27.8 million and $23.2 million, respectively. We have one customer that accounted for more than 10% of its revenue during the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022. The customer is an original equipment manufacturer (the “OEM”) who provides premium Slacker service in all of their new vehicles. In the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, total revenue from the OEM was $13.3 million and $10.0 million, respectively.

Key Corporate Developments for the Quarter Ended June 30, 2023

We ended the June 30, 2023 quarter with approximately 2,300,000 paid members on our music platform, up from approximately 1,594,000 at June 30, 2022, representing 42% annual growth. Included in the total number of paid members for the reported periods are certain members which are the subject of a contractual dispute. We are currently not recognizing revenue related to these members.

Basis of Presentation

The following discussion and analysis of our business and results of operations and our financial conditions is presented on a consolidated basis. In addition, a brief description is provided of significant transactions and events that have an impact on the comparability of the results being analyzed.

Opportunities, Challenges and Risks

During our fiscal year ended March 31, 2022, we derived 53% of our revenue from paid memberships and the remainder from advertising, ticketing, sponsorship, merchandising and licensing. During fiscal year ended March 31, 2023, we (i) delivered live events digitally live streamed across our platform, (ii) increased our sponsorship revenue from live events when compared to prior fiscal years and (iii) had revenue from our PPV platform for an entire year, allowing us to charge customers directly to access and watch certain live events digitally on our music platform. As a result of these actions, our revenue for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023 was comprised of 53% from paid members, 35% from advertising, 9% from merchandise and 1% from ticketing

We believe there is substantial near and long-term value in our live music content. We believe the monetary value of broadcasting live music will follow a similar evolution to live sporting events such as the National Football League, Major League Baseball and the National Basketball Association, whereby sports broadcasting rights became more valuable as the demand for live sporting events increased over the past 20 years. As a thought leader in live music, we plan to acquire the broadcasting rights to as many of the top live music events and festivals that are available to us. In the near term, we will continue aggregating our digital traffic across these festivals and monetizing the live broadcasting of these events through advertising, brand sponsorships and licensing of certain broadcasting rights outside of North America.

3

With the acceleration of our live events, we have also begun to package, produce and broadcast our live music content on a 24/7/365 basis across our music platform and grow our paid members. Recently, we have entered into distribution relationships with a variety of platforms, including Roku, AppleTV, Amazon Fire, linear OTT platforms such as STIRR and XUMO. As we continue to have more distribution channels, rights and viewership and expand our original programming capabilities, we believe there is a substantial opportunity to increase our brand, advertising, viewership and membership capabilities and corresponding revenue, domestically and globally.

We believe our operating results and performance are, and will continue to be, driven by various factors that affect the music industry. Our ability to attract, grow and retain users to our platform is highly sensitive to rapidly changing public music preferences and technology and is dependent on our ability to maintain the attractiveness of our platform, content and reputation to our customers. Beyond fiscal year 2023, the future revenue and operating growth across our music platform will rely heavily on our ability to grow our member base in a cost effective manner, continue to develop and deploy quality and innovative new music services, provide unique and attractive content to our customers, continue to grow the number of listeners on our platform and live music festivals we stream, grow and retain customers and secure sponsorships to facilitate future revenue growth from advertising and e-commerce across our platform.

As our music platform continues to evolve, we believe there are opportunities to expand our services by adding more content in a greater variety of formats such as podcasts and video podcasts (“vodcasts”), extending our distribution to include pay television, OTT and social channels, deploying new services for our members, artist merchandise and live music event ticket sales, and licensing user data across our platform. Our acquisitions of PodcastOne, CPS and Gramophone are reflective of our flywheel operating model. Conversely, the evolution of technology presents an inherent risk to our business. Today, we see large opportunities to expand our music services within North America and other parts of the world where we will need to make substantial investments to improve our current service offerings. As a result, and during the fiscal year ending March 31, 2024, we will continue to invest in product and engineering to further develop our future music apps and services, and we expect to continue making significant product development investments to our existing technology solutions over the next 12 to 24 months to address these opportunities.

As our platform matures, we also expect our Contribution Margins*, adjusted earnings before income tax, depreciation and amortization (“Adjusted EBITDA”)* and Adjusted EBITDA Margins* to improve in the near and long term, which are non-GAAP measures as defined in section following below titled, “Non-GAAP Measures”. Historically, our live events business has not generated enough direct revenue to cover the costs to produce such events, and as a result generated negative Contribution Margins*, Adjusted EBITDA*, Adjusted EBITDA Margins* and operating losses. Historically, we produced and digitally distributed the live music performances of many of these large global music events to fans all around the world. Beginning in late March 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic had an adverse impact on on-premise live music events and festivals. With the elimination of any fan-attended music events, festivals and concerts, we shifted our operating model beginning in April 2020 towards self-producing live music events that were 100% digital (e.g., artists not performing in front of live fans and solely for digital distribution).

Growth in our music services is also dependent upon the number of customers that use and pay for our services, the attractiveness of our music platform to sponsors and advertisers and our ability to negotiate favorable economic terms with music labels, publishers, artists and/or festival owners, and the number of consumers who use our services. Growth in our margins is heavily dependent on our ability to grow the membership base in a cost-efficient manner, coupled with the managing the costs associated with implementing and operating our services, including the costs of licensing music with the music labels, producing, streaming and distributing video and audio content and sourcing and distributing personalized products and gifts. Our ability to attract and retain new and existing customers will be highly dependent on our abilities to implement and continually improve upon our technology and services on a timely basis and continually improve our network and operations as technology changes and as we experience increased network capacity constraints as we continue to grow.

For the majority of our agreements with festival owners, we acquire the global broadcast rights. Moreover, the digital rights we acquire principally include any format and screen, and where applicable, future rights to VR and AR. For the quarter ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, all material amounts of our revenue were derived from customers located in the United States and moreover, one of our customers accounted for 48% and 43% of our consolidated revenue, respectively. This significant concentration of revenue from one customer poses risks to our operating results, and any change in the means this customer utilizes our services beyond March 31, 2023 could cause our revenue to fluctuate significantly.

Moreover, and with the addition of PodcastOne and CPS in July and December 2020, respectively, the percentage of this customer revenue concentration increased and is expected to continue in the future. In the long term, we plan to expand our business internationally in places such as Europe, Asia Pacific and Latin America, and as a result will continue to incur significant incremental upfront expenses associated with these growth opportunities.

4

Consolidated Results of Operations

Three Months Ended June 30, 2023, as compared to Three Months Ended June 30, 2022

The following tables set forth our results of operations for the periods presented. The period-to-period comparison of financial results is not necessarily indicative of future results (in thousands):

|  | Three Months Ended June 30, |
|  | 2023 |  |  | 2022 |
Revenue: |  | $ | 27,767 |  |  | $ | 23,222 |
Operating expenses: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Cost of sales |  |  | 19,563 |  |  |  | 15,382 |
Sales and marketing |  |  | 1,904 |  |  |  | 2,366 |
Product development |  |  | 1,246 |  |  |  | 1,617 |
General and administrative |  |  | 5,063 |  |  |  | 2,209 |
Amortization of intangible assets |  |  | 246 |  |  |  | 1,411 |
Total operating expenses |  |  | 28,022 |  |  |  | 22,985 |
Income (loss) from operations |  |  | (255 | ) |  |  | 237 |
Other income (expense): |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Interest expense, net |  |  | (1,418 | ) |  |  | (997 | )
Other income |  |  | 1,237 |  |  |  | 2,105 |
Total other income (expense), net |  |  | (181 | ) |  |  | 1,108 |
(Loss) income before income taxes |  |  | (436 | ) |  |  | 1,345 |
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes |  |  | 79 |  |  |  | (3 | )
Net income (loss) |  | $ | (515 | ) |  | $ | 1,348 |
Net income (loss) per share - basic |  | $ | (0.01 | ) |  | $ | 0.02 |
Net income (loss) per share – diluted |  | $ | (0.01 | ) |  | $ | 0.02 |
Weighted average common shares – basic |  |  | 86,895,208 |  |  |  | 82,072,822 |
Weighted average common shares – diluted |  |  | 86,895,208 |  |  |  | 82,126,622 |

The following table sets forth the depreciation expense included in the above line items (in thousands):

|  | Three Months Ended June 30, |  |  |  |
|  | 2023 |  |  | 2022 |  |  | % Change |
Depreciation expense |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Cost of sales |  | $ | 36 |  |  | $ | 25 |  |  |  | 41 | %
Sales and marketing |  |  | 44 |  |  |  | 47 |  |  |  | -5 | %
Product development |  |  | 440 |  |  |  | 705 |  |  |  | -38 | %
General and administrative |  |  | 287 |  |  |  | 127 |  |  |  | 127 | %
Total depreciation expense |  | $ | 807 |  |  | $ | 904 |  |  |  | -11 | %

5

The following table sets forth the stock-based compensation expense included in the above line items (in thousands):

|  | Three Months Ended June 30, |  |  |  |
|  | 2023 |  |  | 2022 |  |  | % Change |
Stock-based compensation expense |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Cost of sales |  | $ | 268 |  |  | $ | 78 |  |  |  | 243 | %
Sales and marketing |  |  | (8 | ) |  |  | 74 |  |  |  | -110 | %
Product development |  |  | 55 |  |  |  | 124 |  |  |  | -56 | %
General and administrative |  |  | 562 |  |  |  | 512 |  |  |  | 10 | %
Total stock-based compensation expense |  | $ | 877 |  |  | $ | 788 |  |  |  | 12 | %

The following table sets forth our results of operations, as a percentage of revenue, for the periods presented:

|  | Three Months Ended June 30, |
|  | 2023 |  |  | 2022 |
Revenue |  |  | 100 | % |  |  | 100 | %
Operating expenses |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Cost of sales |  |  | 70 | % |  |  | 60 | %
Sales and marketing |  |  | 7 | % |  |  | 10 | %
Product development |  |  | 4 | % |  |  | 7 | %
General and administrative |  |  | 18 | % |  |  | 10 | %
Amortization of intangible assets |  |  | 1 | % |  |  | 6 | %
Total operating expenses |  |  | 101 | % |  |  | 99 | %
(Loss) income from operations |  |  | -1 | % |  |  | 1 | %
Other income (expense), net |  |  | -1 | % |  |  | 5 | %
Income (loss) before income taxes |  |  | -2 | % |  |  | 6 | %
Income tax provision (benefit) |  |  | - | % |  |  | - | %
Net (loss) income |  |  | -2 | % |  |  | 6 | %

Revenue

Revenue was as follows (in thousands):

|  | Three Months Ended June 30, |  |  |  |
|  | 2023 |  |  | 2022 |  |  | % Change |
Membership services |  | $ | 15,212 |  |  | $ | 12,082 |  |  |  | 26 | %
Advertising |  |  | 10,783 |  |  |  | 8,942 |  |  |  | 21 | %
Merchandising |  |  | 1,740 |  |  |  | 1,848 |  |  |  | -6 | %
Sponsorship and licensing |  |  | 28 |  |  |  | 114 |  |  |  | -75 | %
Ticket/Event |  |  | 4 |  |  |  | 235 |  |  |  | -99 | %
Total Revenue |  | $ | 27,767 |  |  | $ | 23,222 |  |  |  | 20 | %

Membership Revenue

Membership revenue increased $3.1 million, or 26%, to $15.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023, as compared to $12.1 million for the months ended June 30, 2022. The increase was primarily as a result of member growth with our largest OEM customer.

6

Advertising Revenue

Advertising revenue increased $1.8 million, or 21%, to $10.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023, as compared to $8.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022, which is primarily attributable to growth in advertising at PodcastOne year-over-year.

Merchandising

Merchandising revenue decreased $0.1 million, or 6%, to $1.7 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023, as compared to $3.7 million the three months ended June 30, 2022, which is due to a reduction in demand from both retail partners and our direct to consumer merchandising business.

Sponsorship and Licensing

Sponsorship and licensing revenue decreased by $0.1 million, or 75%, to $29,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2023, as compared to $0.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022. The decrease was primarily due to no significant events occurring for the three months ended June 30, 2023.

Ticket/Event

Ticket/Event revenue decreased by $0.2 million, or 99%, to $4,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2023, as compared to $0.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022, driven by the lack of any in-person events during the current year period.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales was as follows (in thousands):

|  | Three Months Ended June 30, |  |  |  |
|  | 2023 |  |  | 2022 |  |  | % Change |
Membership |  | $ | 9,348 |  |  |  | 7,155 |  |  |  | 31 | %
Advertising |  |  | 9,034 |  |  |  | 7,202 |  |  |  | 25 | %
Production and Ticketing |  |  | (218 | ) |  |  | (255 | ) |  |  | -15 | %
Merchandising |  |  | 1,399 |  |  |  | 1,280 |  |  |  | 9 | %
Total Cost of Sales |  | $ | 19,563 |  |  | $ | 15,383 |  |  |  | 27 | %

Membership

Membership cost of sales increased by $2.2 million, or 31%, to $9.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023, as compared to $7.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022. The increase was in line with the higher membership revenues noted above.

Advertising

Advertising cost of sales increased by $1.8 million, or 25%, to $9.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023, as compared to $7.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022. The increase was primarily due to an increase in revenue share expense compared to the prior year period and is line with the increase in revenue for the period.

7

Production and Ticketing

Production cost of sales decreased by $37,000, or 15%, to a credit of $0.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023, as compared to a credit of $0.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022. The Company was able to negotiate credits with some vendors on amounts previously owed during the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022.

Merchandising

Merchandising cost of sales increased by $0.1 million, or 9%, to $1.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023, as compared to $1.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022 due to less events occurring but the Company still incurring fixed cost to support the business.

Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses were as follows (in thousands):

|  | Three Months Ended June 30, |  |  |  |
|  | 2023 |  |  | 2022 |  |  | % Change |
Sales and marketing expenses |  | $ | 1,904 |  |  | $ | 2,366 |  |  |  | -20 | %
Product development |  |  | 1,246 |  |  |  | 1,617 |  |  |  | -23 | %
General and administrative |  |  | 5,063 |  |  |  | 2,209 |  |  |  | 129 | %
Amortization of intangible assets |  |  | 246 |  |  |  | 1,411 |  |  |  | 83 | %
Total Other Operating Expenses |  | $ | 8,459 |  |  | $ | 7,603 |  |  |  | 22 | %

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Sales and Marketing expenses decreased by $0.5 million, or 20%, to $2.0. million for the three months ended June 30, 2023, as compared to $2.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022, primarily driven by reduced payroll costs.

Product Development

Product development expenses decreased by $0.3 million, or 23%, to $1.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023, as compared to $1.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022, which was driven by a decrease in employees as compared to the prior year.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses increased by $2.9 million, or 129%, to $5.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023, as compared to $2.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022, largely due to an increase in legal fees of $2.1 million and a $0.8 million increase in cost attributed to being a public company from the prior period.

Amortization of Intangible Assets

Amortization of intangible assets decreased by $1.2 million, or 83%, to $0.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023, as compared to $1.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022. The decrease can be attributed to intangible assets being written off in the prior year or fully amortized.

Total Other Income (Expense)

Total other income (expense) was as follows (in thousands):

|  | Three Months Ended June 30, |  |  |  |
|  | 2023 |  |  | 2022 |  |  | % Change |
Total other income (expense), net |  | $ | (181 | ) |  | $ | 1,108 |  |  |  | -116 | %

Total other income (expense) increased by $1.3 million, or 116%, to $0.2 million of expense for the three months ended June 30, 2023, as compared to $1.1 million of income for the three months ended June 30, 2022. The increase is primarily driven by the $0.4 million increase in interest expense attributed to our PC1 bridge loan and $0.5 million increase in change in value of derivatives which was offset by a decrease in expense of $2.2 million attributed to the settlement of the PodcastOne contingent liability in the prior period.

8

Business Segment Results

Three Months Ended June 30, 2023, as compared to Three Months Ended June 30, 2022

Audio Group Operations

Our Audio Group Operations, which include our PodcastOne and Slacker operating results were, and discussions of significant variances are, as follows (in thousands):

|  | Three Months Ended June 30, |  |  |  |
|  | 2023 |  |  | 2022 |  |  | % Change |
Revenue |  | $ | 25,713 |  |  | $ | 20,807 |  |  |  | 24 | %
Cost of Sales |  |  | 18,382 |  |  |  | 14,354 |  |  |  | 60 | %
Sales & Marketing, Product Development and G&A |  |  | 3,961 |  |  |  | 2,470 |  |  |  | -8 | %
Intangible Asset Amortization |  |  | 115 |  |  |  | 1,215 |  |  |  | -91 | %
Operating Income (Loss) |  | $ | 3,256 |  |  | $ | 2,767 |  |  |  | -18 | %
Operating Margin |  |  | 13 | % |  |  | 13 | % |  |  | - | %
Adjusted EBITDA* |  | $ | 4,877 |  |  | $ | 3,342 |  |  |  | 46 | %
Adjusted EBITDA Margin* |  |  | 19 | % |  |  | 16 | % |  |  | 3 | %

* | See “—Non-GAAP Measures” below for the definition and reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin.

Revenue

Revenue increased $4.9 million, or 24%, during the three months ended June 30, 2023, primarily due to increased membership revenue as a result of increased membership growth with our largest OEM customer.

Operating Income

Operating income increased by $0.5 million or 18%, for the three months ended June 30, 2023, as the increase in revenue was higher than the increase in operating expenses due to lower headcount and cost efficiencies.

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA increased by $1.5 million, or 46%, to $4.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023, as compared to $3.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022. This was largely due to an increase in revenue and decrease in other income.

Media Group Operations

Our Media Group Operations which consist of all of our other operating subsidiaries outside of PodcastOne and Slacker operating results were, and discussions of significant variances are, as follows (in thousands):

|  | Three Months Ended June 30, |  |  |  |
|  | 2023 |  |  | 2022 |  |  | % Change |
Revenue |  | $ | 2,054 |  |  | $ | 2,626 |  |  |  | -22 | %
Cost of Sales |  |  | 1,181 |  |  |  | 1,028 |  |  |  | 15 | %
Sales & Marketing, Product Development and G&A |  |  | 2,087 |  |  |  | 3,639 |  |  |  | -43 | %
Intangible Asset Amortization |  |  | 132 |  |  |  | 196 |  |  |  | -33 | %
Operating Income (Loss) |  | $ | (1,345 | ) |  | $ | (2,237 | ) |  |  | -40 | %
Operating Margin |  |  | -65 | % |  |  | -85 | % |  |  | 20 | %
Adjusted EBITDA* |  | $ | (1,181 | ) |  | $ | (142 | ) |  |  | 727 | %
Adjusted EBITDA Margin* |  |  | -58 | % |  |  | -5 | % |  |  | -53 | %

* | See “—Non-GAAP Measures” below for the definition and reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin.

9

Revenue

Revenue decreased $0.6 million, or 22%, to $2.1 million during the three months ended June 30, 2023, as compared to $2.6 million for the three months June 30, 2022, primarily due to decrease in events which took place in the prior year.

Operating Loss

Operating loss decreased by $0.9 million, or 40%, to a loss of $1.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023 from a loss of $2.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022, as a result of an increase in contribution margin coupled with the decrease in expenses due to a reduction in staff..

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA loss decreased by $1.1 million, or 727%, to $(1.2) million loss for the three months ended June 30, 2023, as compared to a $(0.1) million loss for the three months June 30, 2022. This was largely due to the decrease in other income compared to the prior year.

Corporate expense

Our Corporate operating results and discussions of significant variances are, as follows (in thousands):

|  | Three months ended June 30, |  |  | % Change 2023 vs. |
|  | 2023 |  |  | 2022 |  |  | 2022 |
Sales & Marketing, Product Development, and G&A |  | $ | 2,165 |  |  | $ | 83 |  |  |  | 2,508 | %
Operating Loss |  | $ | (2,165 | ) |  | $ | (83 | ) |  |  | -2,508 | %
Operating Margin |  |  | N/A |  |  |  | N/A |  |  |  | - | %
Adjusted EBITDA* |  | $ | (1,486 | ) |  | $ | (1,231 | ) |  |  | -21 | %

* | See “—Non-GAAP Measures” below for the definition and reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA.

Operating Loss

Operating loss increased by $2.1 million, or 2,508%, to $2.2 million for three months ended June 30, 2023, as compared to $0.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022, largely due to a one-time settlement of litigation on the prior period which reduced the expense.

Adjusted EBITDA

Corporate Adjusted EBITDA increased $0.3 million, or 21%, to $(1.5) million for the three months ended June 30, 2023 as compared to $(1.2) million for the year ended June 30, 2022. The increase was largely due to the increase in legal and accounting cost noted above.

10

Non-GAAP Measures

Contribution Margin

Contribution Margin is a non-GAAP financial measure defined as Revenue less Cost of Sales.

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure that we define as net income (loss) before (a) non-cash GAAP purchase accounting adjustments for certain deferred revenue and costs, (b) legal, accounting and other professional fees directly attributable to acquisition activity, (c) employee severance payments and third party professional fees directly attributable to acquisition or corporate realignment activities, (d) certain non-recurring expenses associated with legal settlements or reserves for legal settlements in the period that pertain to historical matters that existed at acquired companies prior to their purchase date, (e) depreciation and amortization (including goodwill impairment, if any), and (f) certain stock-based compensation expense. We use Adjusted EBITDA to evaluate the performance of our operating segment. We believe that information about Adjusted EBITDA assists investors by allowing them to evaluate changes in the operating results of our business separate from non-operational factors that affect net income (loss), thus providing insights into both operations and the other factors that affect reported results. Adjusted EBITDA is not calculated or presented in accordance with GAAP. A limitation of the use of Adjusted EBITDA as a performance measure is that it does not reflect the periodic costs of certain amortizing assets used in generating revenue in our business. Accordingly, Adjusted EBITDA should be considered in addition to, and not as a substitute for, operating income (loss), net income (loss), and other measures of financial performance reported in accordance with GAAP. Furthermore, this measure may vary among other companies; thus, Adjusted EBITDA as presented herein may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies.

Adjusted EBITDA Margin

Adjusted EBITDA Margin is a non-GAAP financial measure that we define as the ratio of Adjusted EBITDA to Revenue.

The following table sets forth the reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net loss, the most comparable GAAP financial measure for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

|  | Net Income (Loss) |  |  | Depreciation and Amortization |  |  | Stock-Based Compensation |  |  | Non- Recurring Acquisition and Realignment Costs |  |  | Other (Income) Expense |  |  | (Benefit) Provision for Taxes |  |  | Adjusted EBITDA |
Three Months Ended June 30, 2023 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Operations – Audio Group |  | $ | 3,174 |  |  | $ | 800 |  |  | $ | 300 |  |  | $ | 453 |  |  | $ | 150 |  |  | $ | - |  |  | $ | 4.877 |
Operations – Other |  |  | (848 | ) |  |  | 250 |  |  |  | 34 |  |  |  | 26 |  |  |  | (643 | ) |  |  | - |  |  |  | (1,181 | )
Corporate |  |  | (2,841 | ) |  |  | 5 |  |  |  | 543 |  |  |  | 54 |  |  |  | 674 |  |  |  | 79 |  |  |  | (1,486 | )
Total |  | $ | (515 | ) |  | $ | 1,055 |  |  | $ | 877 |  |  | $ | 533 |  |  | $ | 181 |  |  | $ | 79 |  |  | $ | 2,210 |
Three Months Ended June 30, 2022 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Operations – Audio Group |  | $ | 2,763 |  |  | $ | 2,047 |  |  | $ | 284 |  |  | $ | 165 |  |  | $ | (1,917 | ) |  | $ | - |  |  | $ | 3,342 |
Operations – Other |  |  | (524 | ) |  |  | 262 |  |  |  | 91 |  |  |  | 27 |  |  |  | 2 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  | (142 | )
Corporate |  |  | (891 | ) |  |  | 6 |  |  |  | 413 |  |  |  | (1,563 | ) |  |  | 807 |  |  |  | (3 | ) |  |  | (1,231 | )
Total |  | $ | 1.348 |  |  | $ | 2,315 |  |  | $ | 788 |  |  | $ | (1,371 | ) |  | $ | (1,108 | ) |  | $ | (3 | ) |  | $ | 1,969 |

The following table sets forth the reconciliation of Contribution Margin to Revenue, the most comparable GAAP financial measure (in thousands):

|  | Three Months Ended June 30, |
|  | 2023 |  |  | 2022 |
Revenue: |  | $ | 27,767 |  |  | $ | 23,222 |
Less: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Cost of sales |  |  | (19,563 | ) |  |  | (15,382 | )
Amortization of developed technology |  |  | (747 | ) |  |  | (777 | )
Gross Profit |  |  | 7.457 |  |  |  | 7,063 |
Add back amortization of developed technology: |  |  | 747 |  |  |  | 777 |
Contribution Margin |  | $ | 8,204 |  |  | $ | 7,840 |

11

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Current Financial Condition

As of June 30, 2023, our principal sources of liquidity were our cash and cash equivalents, including restricted cash balances in the amount of $5.2 million, which primarily are invested in cash in banking institutions in the U.S. The vast majority of our cash proceeds were received as a result of our operations, incurrence of debt, the issuance of convertible notes, public offerings of our common shares, and PPP loans. As of June 30, 2023, we have a senior secured line of credit of $7.0 million, Bridge Loan of $2.5 million (not including interest and debt discount) and a notes payable balance of $0.2 million.

As reflected in our condensed consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report, we have a history of losses and incurred a net loss of $0.5 million and provided cash of $1.2 million in operating activities for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and had a working capital deficiency of $24.0 million as of June 30, 2023. These factors, among others, raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern within one year from the date that the financial statements are issued. Our condensed consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments related to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts or the amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should we be unable to continue as a going concern. Our ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on our ability to execute our strategy and on our ability to raise additional funds through the sale of equity and/or debt securities via public and/or private offerings.

Our long-term ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon our ability to increase revenue, reduce costs, achieve a satisfactory level of profitable operations, and obtain additional sources of suitable and adequate financing. Our ability to continue as a going concern is also dependent its ability to further develop and execute on our business plan. We may also have to reduce certain overhead costs through the reduction of salaries and other means and settle liabilities through negotiation. There can be no assurance that management’s attempts at any or all of these endeavors will be successful.

Sources of Liquidity

In July 2022, PodcastOne completed a private placement offering (the “PC1 Bridge Loan”) of its unsecured convertible notes with an original issue discount of 10% (the “OID”) in the aggregate principal amount of $8.8 million (the “PC1 Notes”) to certain accredited investors and institutional investors (collectively, the “Purchasers”), for gross proceeds of $8,035,000 pursuant to the Subscription Agreements entered into with the Purchasers. In connection with the sale of the PC1 Notes, the Purchasers received warrants (the “PC1 Warrants”) to purchase a number of shares of PodcastOne’s common stock, par value $0.00001 per share (See Note 8 – PodcastOne Bridge Loan). As part of the PC1 Bridge Loan, we purchased $3,000,000 (excluding the OID) worth of PC1 Notes.

Our cash flows from operating activities are significantly affected by our cash-based investments in our operations, including acquiring live music events and festivals rights, our working capital, and corporate infrastructure to support our ability to generate revenue and conduct operations through cost of services, product development, sales and marketing and general and administrative activities. Cash used in investing activities has historically been, and is expected to be, impacted significantly by our investments in business combinations, our platform, and our infrastructure and equipment for our business offerings, and sale of our investments. We expect to make additional strategic acquisitions to further grow our business, which may require significant investments, capital raising and/or acquisition of additional debt in the near and long term. Over the next twelve to eighteen months, our net use of our working capital could be substantially higher or lower depending on the number and timing of new live festivals and paid members that we add to our businesses.

12

Subject to applicable limitations in the instruments governing our outstanding indebtedness, we may from time to time repurchase our debt, including the unsecured convertible notes, in the open market, through tender offers, through exchanges for debt or equity securities, in privately negotiated transactions or otherwise.

In the future, we may utilize additional commercial financings, bonds, notes, debentures, lines of credit and term loans with a syndicate of commercial banks or other bank syndicates and/or issue equity securities (publicly or privately) for general corporate purposes, including acquisitions and investing in our intangible assets, music equipment, platform and technologies. We may also use our current cash and cash equivalents to repurchase some or all of our unsecured convertible notes, and pay down our debt, in part or in full, subject to repayment limitation set forth in the credit agreement. Management plans to fund its operations over the next twelve months through the combination of improved operating results, spending rationalization, and the ability to access sources of capital such as through the issuance of equity and/or debt securities. No assurance can be given that any future financing will be available or, if available, that it will be on terms that are satisfactory to us. We filed a new universal shelf Registration Statement on Form S-3 (the “New Shelf S-3”) with the SEC, which was declared effective by the SEC on February 17, 2022. Under the New Shelf S-3, we have the ability to raise up to $150.0 million in cash from the sale of our equity, debt and/or other financial instruments.

Sources and Uses of Cash

The following table provides information regarding our cash flows for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

|  | Three Months Ended June 30, |
|  | 2023 |  |  | 2022 |
Net cash provided by (used in) by operating activities |  | $ | 1,221 |  |  | $ | (26 | )
Net cash used in investing activities |  |  | (627 | ) |  |  | (785 | )
Net cash used in financing activities |  |  | (4,013 | ) |  |  | (997 | )
Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash |  | $ | (3,419 | ) |  | $ | (1.808 | )

Cash Flows Provided by Operating Activities

For the three months ended June 30, 2023

Net cash provided by operating activities of $1.2 million primarily resulted from our net loss during the period of $0.5 million, which included non-cash charges of $2.1 million largely comprised of depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation, change in fair value of derivatives and amortization of debt discount. The remainder of our sources of cash used in operating activities of $(0.4) million was from changes in our working capital, primarily from timing of accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, accrued royalties, and deferred revenue.

For the three months ended June 30, 2022

Net cash used in our operating activities of $26,000 primarily resulted from our net income during the period of $1.3 million, which included non-cash charges of $1.3 million largely comprised of depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation, change in fair value of contingent consideration and amortization of debt discount. The remainder of our sources of cash used in operating activities of $(2.7) million was from changes in our working capital, primarily from timing of accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, accrued royalties, and deferred revenue.

13

Cash Flows Used In Investing Activities

For the three months ended June 30, 2023

Net cash used in investing activities of $0.6 million was primarily due to the $0.6 million cash used for the purchase of capitalized internally developed software costs during the quarter ended June 30, 2023.

For the three months ended June 30, 2022

Net cash used in investing activities of $0.8 million was primarily due to the $0.8 million cash used for the purchase of capitalized internally developed software costs during the quarter ended June 30, 2022.

Cash Flows Provided by Financing Activities

For the three months ended June 30, 2023

Net cash used in financing activities of $4.0 million was due to the repayment of our Bridge Loan and repurchase of common stock under the Company’s share repurchase program of $1.0 million.

For the three months ended June 30, 2022

Net cash used in financing activities of $1.0 million was due to the repurchase of common stock under the Company’s share repurchase program of $1.0 million.

Debt Covenants

As of June 30, 2023, the Company was not in compliance with a financial covenant under the Revolving Credit Facility but is in the process of obtaining a waiver from the Senior Lender to remove the non-compliance.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Not required for smaller reporting companies.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act) that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Interim Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

As of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report, we carried out an evaluation (the “Evaluation”), under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Interim Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act) pursuant to Rule 13a-15 of the Exchange Act. Based upon that evaluation, as a result of the material weaknesses identified in our 2023 Form 10-K, our Chief Executive Officer and Interim Chief Financial Officer concluded that as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective.

14

Limitations of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to reasonably ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and (ii) accumulated and communicated to management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance that it will detect or uncover failures within the Company to disclose material information otherwise required to be set forth in our periodic reports. Inherent limitations to any system of disclosure controls and procedures include, but are not limited to, the possibility of human error and the circumvention or overriding of such controls by one or more persons. In addition, we have designed our system of controls based on certain assumptions, which we believe are reasonable, about the likelihood of future events, and our system of controls may therefore not achieve its desired objectives under all possible future events.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We continue to be in the process of implementing changes, as more fully described in our 2023 Form 10-K, to our internal control over financial reporting to remediate the material weaknesses as described in our 2023 Form 10-K.

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting, during the quarter ended June 30, 2023 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

CEO and CFO Certifications

Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to this Quarterly Report are the Certifications of our Chief Executive Officer and Interim Chief Financial Officer, respectively. These Certifications are required in accordance with Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (the “Section 302 Certifications”). This Item 4 of this Quarterly Report, which you are currently reading, is the information concerning the Evaluation referred to above and in the Section 302 Certifications and this information should be read in conjunction with the Section 302 Certifications for a more complete understanding of the topics presented.

15

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

We are from time to time, party to various legal proceedings arising out of our business. Certain legal proceedings in which we are involved are discussed in Note 13 - Commitments and Contingencies, to the condensed consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report, and are incorporated herein by reference. Litigation is subject to inherent uncertainties, and an adverse result in these or other matters may have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or operating results.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

We have set forth in Item 1A. Risk Factors in our 2023 Form 10-K, risk factors relating to our business and industry, our acquisition strategy, our company, our subsidiaries, our technology and intellectual property, and our common stock. Readers of this Quarterly Report are referred to such Item 1A. Risk Factors in our 2023 Form 10-K for a more complete understanding of risks concerning us. Except as set forth below, there have been no material changes in our risk factors since those published in our 2023 Form 10-K.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

We rely on one key customer for a substantial percentage of our revenue. The loss of our largest customer or the significant reduction of business or growth of business from our largest customer could significantly adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our business is dependent, and we believe that it will continue to depend, on our customer relationship with Tesla, which accounted for 48% of our consolidated revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2023, and 43% of our consolidated revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2022. Our existing agreement with Tesla governs our music services to its car user base in North America, including our audio music streaming services. If we fail to maintain certain minimum service level requirements related to our service with Tesla or other obligations related to our technology or services, Tesla may terminate our agreement to provide them with such service. Tesla may also terminate our agreement for convenience at any time. If Tesla terminates our agreement, requires us to renegotiate the terms of our existing agreement or we are unable to renew such agreement on mutually agreeable terms, no longer makes our music services available to Tesla’s car user base, becomes a native music service provider, replaces our music services with one or more of our competitors and/or we experience a significant reduction of business from Tesla, our business, financial condition and results of operations would be materially adversely affected.

In addition, a significant amount of the membership revenue we generate from Tesla is indirectly subsidized by Tesla to its customers, which Tesla is not committed to carry indefinitely, including the ability to terminate and/or change our music services for convenience at any time. Should our membership revenue services no longer be subsidized by and/or made available by Tesla to its customers or if Tesla reclassifies or renegotiates with us the definition of a paid member or demands credit for past members that no longer meet such requirement, there can be no assurance that we will continue to maintain the same number of paid members or receive the same levels of membership service revenue and membership revenue may substantially fluctuate accordingly. There is no assurance that we would be able to replace Tesla or lost business with Tesla with one or more customers that generate comparable revenue. Furthermore, there could be no assurance that our revenue from Tesla continues to grow at the same rate or at all. Any revenue growth will depend on our success in growing such customer’s revenues on our platform and expanding our customer base to include additional customers.

16

Tesla has also integrated Spotify Premium to the car’s in-dash touchscreen for its Model S, Model X and Model 3 vehicles. Tesla owners now have access to our music streaming services, Spotify and TuneIn natively. There is no assurance that our music streaming services will be available in every current and/or future Tesla model. Furthermore, our current and future competitors like Spotify, Apple Music, Tesla (if it becomes a native music service provider) and others may have more well-established brand recognition, more established relationships with, and superior access to content providers and other industry stakeholders, greater financial, technical and other resources, more sophisticated technologies or more experience in the markets in which we compete. If we are unable to compete successfully for users against our competitors by maintaining and increasing our presence and visibility, the number of users of our network may fail to increase as expected or decline and our advertising sales, membership fees and other revenue streams will suffer.

In addition, we have derived, and we believe that we will continue to derive, a substantial portion of our revenues from a limited number of other customers. Any revenue growth will depend on our success in growing our customers’ revenues on our platform and expanding our customer base to include additional customers. If we were to lose one or more of our key customers, there is no assurance that we would be able to replace such customers or lost business with new customers that generate comparable revenue, which would significantly adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We have incurred significant operating and net losses since our inception and anticipate that we will continue to incur significant losses for the foreseeable future.

As reflected in our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere herein, we have a history of losses, incurred significant operating and net losses in each year since our inception, including net losses of $0.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023, and used cash in financing activities of $4.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023. As of June 30, 2023, we had an accumulated deficit of $225.0 million and net liabilities of $61.5 million.

We expect to continue to incur substantial and increased expenses as we continue to execute our business approach, including expanding and developing our content and platform and potentially making other accretive acquisitions, until such time that we can generate significant increases to our revenues, and/or reduce our operating costs and losses. To date, we have financed our operations exclusively through the sale of equity and/or debt securities (including convertible securities). The size of our future net losses will depend, in part, on the rate of future expenditures and our ability to significantly grow our business and increase our revenues. We also expect a continued increase in our expenses associated with our operations as a publicly traded company. We may incur significant losses in the future for a number of other reasons, including unsuccessful acquisitions, costs of integrating new businesses, expenses, difficulties, complications, delays and other unknown events. As a result of the foregoing, we expect to continue to incur significant losses for the foreseeable future and we may not be able to achieve or sustain profitability.

The likelihood of our success must be considered in light of the problems, expenses, difficulties, complications and delays frequently encountered by a growing company, the difficulties that may be encountered with integrating acquired companies and the highly competitive environment in which we operate. For example, while several companies have been successful in the digital music streaming industry and the online video streaming industry, companies have had no or limited success in operating a premium Internet network devoted to live music and music-related video content. We cannot assure you that our business will be profitable or that we will ever generate sufficient revenue to fully meet our expenses and support our anticipated activities.

Our ability to meet our total liabilities, as reported in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, and to continue as a going concern, is dependent on our ability to increase revenue, reduce costs, achieve a satisfactory level of profitable operations, obtain additional sources of suitable and adequate financing and further develop and execute on our business plan. We may never achieve profitability, and even if we do, we may not be able to sustain being profitable. As a result of the going concern uncertainty, there is an increased risk that you could lose the entire amount of your investment in our company, which assumes the realization of our assets and the satisfaction of our liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business.

17

Risks Related to Our Company

We may not have the ability to repay the amounts then due under our senior credit facility at maturity.

At maturity, the entire outstanding principal amount of our senior secured facility, will become due and payable by us. As of June 30, 2023, none is due in fiscal 2024 and $7.0 million of our total indebtedness is due in fiscal 2025.

Our failure to repay any outstanding amount of our senior credit facility would constitute a default under such facility. A default would increase the interest rate to the default rate under the senior credit facility or the maximum rate permitted by applicable law until such amount is paid in full. A default under the senior credit facility could also lead to a default under agreements governing our future indebtedness. If the repayment of the related indebtedness were to be accelerated after any applicable notice or grace periods, we may not have sufficient funds to repay our senior credit facility or make cash payments thereon. Furthermore, upon the occurrence and during the continuation of any event of default, the senior lender shall have the right to, among other things, take possession of our and our subsidiaries’ assets and property constituting the collateral thereunder and the right to assign, sell, lease or otherwise dispose of all or any part of the collateral.

If we do not comply with the provisions of the senior credit facility, our lender may terminate its obligations to us, accelerate its debt and require us to repay all outstanding amounts owed thereunder.

The senior credit facility contains provisions that limit our operating activities, including covenant relating to the requirement to maintain a certain amount cash (as provided in the senior credit facility loan agreement). If an event of default occurs and is continuing, the lender may among other things, terminate its obligations thereunder, accelerate its debt and require us to repay all amounts thereunder. For example, on October 13, 2022, a judgement was ordered in favor of SoundExchange, Inc. (“SX”) against us and Slacker in the United States District Court Central District of California in the amount of approximately $9.8 million. On October 13, 2022, the court entered a judgment against the defendants for the amount of $9,765,396.70. In February 2023, we settled the dispute. Our debt agreements with the provider of the senior credit facility contains a covenant that if a material adverse change occurs in our financial condition, or such lender reasonably believes the prospect of payment or performance of their loan is materially impaired, the lender at its option may immediately accelerate its debt and require us to repay all outstanding amounts owed thereunder. If for any reason we fail to comply with the terms of our settlement agreement with SX, our senior credit facility provider may declare an event of default and at its option may immediately accelerate its debt and require us to repay all outstanding amounts owed under the senior credit facility, which would materially adversely impact our business, operating results and financial condition. As of June 30, 2023 the Company was not in compliance with a financial covenant under the Revolving Credit Facility but is in the process of obtaining a waiver from the Senior Lender to remove the non-compliance.

Our debt agreements contain restrictive and financial covenants that may limit our operating flexibility, and our substantial indebtedness may limit cash flow available to invest in the ongoing needs of our business.

We have a significant amount of indebtedness. Our total outstanding consolidated indebtedness as of June 30, 2023 was $9.9 million, net of fees and discounts. While we have certain restrictions and covenants with our current indebtedness, we could in the future incur additional indebtedness beyond such amount. Our existing debt agreements with senior facility lender contain certain restrictive covenants that limit our ability to merge with other companies or consummate certain changes of control, make certain investments, pay dividends or repurchase shares of our common stock, transfer or dispose of assets, or enter into various specified transactions. We therefore may not be able to engage in any of the foregoing transactions unless we obtain the consent of our senior secured lender or terminate our existing debt agreements. Our debt agreements also contain certain financial covenants, including maintaining a minimum cash amount at all times and achieving certain financial covenants and are secured by substantially all of our assets. There is no guarantee that we will be able to generate sufficient cash flow or sales to meet the financial covenants or pay the principal and interest under our debt agreements or to satisfy all of the financial covenants. We may also incur significant additional indebtedness in the future.

18

Our substantial debt combined with our other financial obligations and contractual commitments could have other significant adverse consequences, including:

| ● | requiring us to dedicate a substantial portion of cash flow from operations to the payment of interest on, and principal of, our debt, which will reduce the amounts available to fund working capital, capital expenditures, product development efforts and other general corporate purposes;

| ● | increasing our vulnerability to adverse changes in general economic, industry and market conditions;

| ● | obligating us to restrictive covenants that may reduce our ability to take certain corporate actions or obtain further debt or equity financing;

| ● | limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we compete; and

| ● | placing us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt or better debt servicing options.

We intend to satisfy our current and future debt service obligations with our existing cash and cash equivalents and funds from external sources, including equity and/or debt financing. However, we may not have sufficient funds or may be unable to arrange for additional financing to pay the amounts due under our existing debt. Funds from external sources may not be available on acceptable terms, if at all. In the event of an acceleration of amounts due under our debt instruments as a result of an event of default, including upon the occurrence of an event that would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on our business, operations, properties, assets or condition or a failure to pay any amount due, we may not have sufficient funds or may be unable to arrange for additional financing to repay our indebtedness or to make any accelerated payments.

We depend upon third-party licenses for sound recordings and musical compositions and other content and an adverse change to, loss of, or claim that we do not hold any necessary licenses may materially adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

To secure the rights to stream sound recordings and the musical compositions embodied therein, we enter into license agreements to obtain licenses from rights holders such as record labels, aggregators, artists, music publishers, performing rights organizations, collecting societies and other copyright owners or their agents, and pay substantial royalties or other consideration to such parties or their agents around the world. Though we work diligently in our efforts to obtain all necessary licenses to stream sound recordings and the musical compositions embodied therein, there is no guarantee that the licenses available to us now will continue to be available in the future at rates and on terms that are favorable or commercially reasonable or at all. The terms of these licenses, including the royalty rates that we are required to pay pursuant to them, may change as a result of changes in our bargaining power, changes in the industry, changes in the laws and regulations, or for other reasons. Increases in royalty rates or changes to other terms of these licenses may materially impact our business, operating results, and financial condition.

We enter into license agreements to obtain rights to stream sound recordings, including from the major record labels that hold the rights to stream a significant number of sound recordings, such as Universal Music Group, Sony Music Entertainment, Warner Music Group and SoundExchange, as well as others. If we fail to obtain these licenses, the size and quality of its catalog may be materially impacted and its business, operating results and financial condition could be materially harmed.

19

We generally obtain licenses for two types of rights with respect to musical compositions: mechanical rights and public performance rights. With respect to mechanical rights, for example, in the United States, the rates we pay are, to a significant degree, a function of a ratemaking proceeding conducted by an administrative agency called the Copyright Royalty Board. The rates that the Copyright Royalty Board set apply both to compositions that we license under the compulsory license in Section 115 of the Copyright Act of 1976 (the “Copyright Act”), and to a number of direct licenses that we have with music publishers for U.S. rights, in which the applicable rate is generally pegged to the statutory rate set by the Copyright Royalty Board. The most recent proceeding before the Copyright Royalty Board (the “Phonorecords III Proceedings”) set the rates for the Section 115 compulsory license for calendar years 2018 to 2022. The Copyright Royalty Board issued its initial written determination on January 26, 2018. The rates set by the Copyright Royalty Board may still be modified if a party appeals the determination and are also subject to further change as part of future Copyright Royalty Board proceedings. If any such rate change increases, our sound recordings and musical compositions license costs may substantially increase and impact our ability to obtain content on pricing terms favorable to us, and it could negatively harm our business, operating results and financial condition and hinder our ability to provide interactive features in our services or cause one or more of our services not to be economically viable. Based on management’s estimates and forecasts for the next two fiscal years, we currently believe that the proposed rates will not materially impact our business, operating results, and financial condition. However, the proposed rates are based on a variety of factors and inputs which are difficult to predict in the long-term. If Slacker’s business does not perform as expected or if the rates are modified to be higher than the proposed rates, its content acquisition costs could increase and impact its ability to obtain content on pricing terms favorable to us, which could negatively harm Slacker’s business, operating results and financial condition and hinder its ability to provide interactive features in its services, or cause one or more of Slacker’s services not to be economically viable.

In the United States, public performance rights are generally obtained through intermediaries known as performing rights organizations (“PROs”), which negotiate blanket licenses with copyright users for the public performance of compositions in their repertory, collect royalties under such licenses, and distribute those royalties to copyright owners. The royalty rates available to Slacker today may not be available to it in the future. Licenses provided by two of these PROs, the American Society of Composers, Authors and Publishers (“ASCAP”) and Broadcast Music, Inc. (“BMI”), cover the majority of the music we stream and are governed by consent decrees relating to decades old litigations. In 2019, the U.S. Department of Justice indicated that it was formally reviewing the relevance and need of these consent decrees. Changes to the terms of or interpretation of these consent decrees up to and including the dissolution of the consent decrees, could affect our ability to obtain licenses from these PROs on reasonable terms, which could harm its business, operating results, and financial condition. In addition, an increase in the number of compositions that must be licensed from PROs that are not subject to the consent decrees, or from copyright owners that have withdrawn public performance rights from the PROs, could likewise impede Slacker’s ability to license public performance rights on favorable terms. As of June 30, 2023, we owed $16.9 million in aggregate royalty payments to such PROs.

In other parts of the world, including Europe, Asia, and Latin America, we obtain mechanical and performance licenses for musical compositions either through local collecting societies representing publishers or from publishers directly, or a combination thereof. We cannot guarantee that its licenses with collecting societies and its direct licenses with publishers provide full coverage for all of the musical compositions we make available to our users in such countries. In Asia and Latin America, we are seeing a trend of movement away from blanket licenses from copyright collectives, which is leading to a fragmented copyright licensing landscape. Publishers, songwriters, and other rights holders choosing not to be represented by collecting societies could adversely impact our ability to secure favorable licensing arrangements in connection with musical compositions that such rights holders own or control, including increasing the costs of licensing such musical compositions, or subjecting us to significant liability for copyright infringement.

With respect to podcasts and other non-music content, we produce or commission the content itself or obtain distribution rights directly from rights holders. In the former scenario, we employ various business models to create original content. In the latter scenario, we and/or PodcastOne negotiates license directly with individuals that enable creators to post content directly to our service after agreeing to comply with the applicable terms and conditions. We are dependent on those who provide content on our service complying with the terms and conditions of our license agreements as well as the PodcastOne Terms and Conditions of Use. However, we cannot guarantee that rights holders or content providers will comply with their obligations, and such failure to do so may materially impact our business, operating results, and financial condition.

20

There also is no guarantee that we have all of the licenses we need to stream content, as the process of obtaining such licenses involves many rights holders, some of whom are unknown, and myriad complex legal issues across many jurisdictions, including open questions of law as to when and whether particular licenses are needed. Additionally, there is a risk that rights holders, creators, performers, writers and their agents, or societies, unions, guilds, or legislative or regulatory bodies will create or attempt to create new rights that could require us to enter into license agreements with, and pay royalties to, newly defined groups of rights holders, some of which may be difficult or impossible to identify.

Even when we can enter into license agreements with rights holders, we cannot guarantee that such agreements will continue to be renewed indefinitely. For example, from time to time, our license agreements with certain rights holders and/or their agents may expire while we negotiate their renewals and, per industry custom and practice, we may enter into brief (for example, month-, week-, or even days-long) extensions of those agreements or provisional licenses and/or continue to operate on an at will basis as if the license agreement had been extended, including by our continuing to make music available. During these periods, we may not have assurance of long-term access to such rights holders’ content, which could have a material adverse effect on its business and could lead to potential copyright infringement claims.

It also is possible that such agreements will never be renewed at all. The lack of renewal, or termination, of one or more of our license agreements, or the renewal of a license agreement on less favorable terms, also could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Risks Related to the Ownership of Our Common Stock

Conversion of our Series A Preferred Stock will dilute the ownership interest of our existing stockholders, including holders who had previously converted their convertible notes, or may otherwise depress the price of our common stock.

As of July 1, 2023, the shares of our Series A Preferred Stock are convertible into approximately 10.6 million shares of our common stock. The conversion of some or all of the shares of our Series A Preferred Stock into shares of our common stock will dilute the ownership interests of our existing stockholders. In addition, any sales in the public market of the shares of our common stock issuable upon such conversion and/or any anticipated conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock into shares of our common stock could adversely affect prevailing market prices of our common stock.

21

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

Issuance of Unregistered Securities

Other than as set forth below and as reported in our Current Reports on Form 8-K, there have been no other sales or issuances of unregistered securities during the period covered by this Quarterly Report that were not registered under the Securities Act.

During the three months ended June 30, 2023, we issued 425,988 shares of our common stock valued at $0.6 million to various consultants. We valued these shares at prices between $0.89 and $1.29 per share, the market price of our common stock on the date of issuance.

During the three months ended June 30, 2022, we issued 135,270 shares of our common stock valued at $0.6 million to various consultants. We valued these shares at prices between $0.76 and $0.81 per share, the market price of our common stock on the date of issuance.

We believe the offers, sales and issuances of the securities described above were made in reliance on the exemption from registration contained in Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act and/or Rule 506 of Regulation D promulgated thereunder and involved a transaction by an issuer not involving any public offering. Each of the recipients of securities in any transaction exempt from registration either received or had adequate access, through employment, business or other relationships, to information about us.

During the three months ended June 30, 2023, we issued 5,000 restricted stock units to various employees and consultants. We valued these restricted stock units at $1.10 per share, the market price of our common stock on the date of issuance. During the three months ended June 30, 2022, we issued 102,500 restricted stock units to various employees and consultants. We valued these restricted stock units at $0.81 per share, the market price of our common stock on the date of issuance. The shares of our common stock underlying these awards were registered on our Registration Statements on Form S-8, filed with the SEC on August 24, 2021 and November 12, 2019.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

Period |  | (a) Total number of shares (or units) purchased |  |  | (b) Average price paid per share (or unit) |  |  | (c) Total number of shares (or units) purchased as part of publicly announced plans or programs |  |  | (d) Maximum number (or approximate dollar value) of shares (or units) that may yet be purchased under the plans or programs
April 1, 2023 – April 30, 2023 |  |  | 563,417 |  |  | $ | 1.41 |  |  |  | 1,749,638 |  |  | 131,144 shares*
May 1, 2023 – May 31, 2023 |  |  | 130,898 |  |  | $ | 1.68 |  |  |  | 1,880,536 |  |  | 246 shares*
June 1, 2023 – June 30, 2023 |  |  | - |  |  | $ | - |  |  |  | 1,880,536 |  |  | 246 shares*
Total (April 1, 2023 – June 30, 2023) |  |  | 694,315 |  |  | $ | 1.46 |  |  |  | 1,880,536 |  |  | 246 shares*

| * | Does not include a $1.5 million increase to the repurchase program approved by our board of directors in April 2023, and an additional $2.0 million increase to the repurchase program approved by our board of directors in July 2023.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information.

None.

22

Item 6. Exhibits.

Exhibit Number |  | Description
3.1 |  | Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on August 8, 2017).
3.2 |  | Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, dated as of September 30, 2017 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, Amendment No. 3, filed with the SEC on October 6, 2017).
3.3 |  | Bylaws of the Company (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on August 8, 2017).
3.4 |  | Amendment No. 1 to the Bylaws of the Company (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on January 14, 2021).
3.5 |  | Certificate of Merger, dated as of September 30, 2021, between the Company and LiveOne, Inc. ((Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on October 12, 2021).
4.1 |  | Promissory Note, dated as of June 2, 2021, issued by the Company to East West Bank (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on June 11, 2021).
4.2 |  | Form of 10% Original Issue Discount Convertible Promissory Note, dated July 15, 2022, issued by PodcastOne to the purchasers thereof (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on July 20, 2022).
4.3 |  | Form of Warrants, dated July 15, 2022, issued by PodcastOne to the purchasers of PodcastOne’s 10% Original Issue Discount Convertible Promissory Notes, dated July 15, 2022 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on July 20, 2022).
4.4 |  | Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Rights and Limitations of Series A Perpetual Convertible Preferred Stock of the Company, dated as of February 2, 2023 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC February 7, 2023).
10.1† |  | Form of Director/Officer Indemnification Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on April 30, 2014).
10.2† |  | The Company’s 2016 Equity Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on November 14, 2016).
10.3† |  | Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s 2016 Equity Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on February 13, 2019).
10.4† |  | Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s 2016 Equity Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on July 6, 2021).
10.5† |  | Form of Director Option Agreement under 2016 Equity Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on November 14, 2016).
10.6† |  | Form of Employee Option Agreement under 2016 Equity Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on November 14, 2016).
10.7† |  | Employment Agreement, dated as of September 7, 2017, between the Company and Robert S. Ellin (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on September 8, 2017).
10.8† |  | Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated as of December 15, 2017, between the Company and Robert Ellin (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on December 15, 2017).
10.9† |  | Amendment No. 2 to Employment Agreement, dated as of December 14, 2017, between the Company and Robert Ellin. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on February 14, 2023).
10.10†£ |  | Employment Offer Letter, dated as of March 6, 2019, between the Company and Aaron Sullivan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on June 29, 2022).

23

10.11† |  | Amendment No. 1 to Employment Offer Agreement, dated as of dated as of October 26, 2020 and effective as of October 1, 2020, between the Company and Aaron Sullivan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on June 29, 2022).
10.12 |  | Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 7, 2020, by and among the Company, Courtside Group, Inc., LiveXLive PodcastOne, Inc., the persons identified as “Sellers” on the signature pages thereto, and Norman Pattiz, as the representative of the Sellers (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on May 8, 2020).
10.13£ |  | Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 2, 2020, between the Company and the Purchaser (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on July 6, 2020).
10.14£ |  | Amendment No. 1 to Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 30, 2020, between the Company and the Purchaser (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K/A, filed with the SEC on August 5, 2020).
10.15 |  | Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 22, 2020, among the Company, Custom Personalization Solutions, Inc., LiveXLive Merchandising, Inc., the persons identified as “Sellers” on the signature pages thereto, and Scott R. Norman, as the representative of the Sellers (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on December 30, 2020).
10.16 |  | Business Loan Agreement, dated as of June 2, 2021, between the Company and East West Bank (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on June 11, 2021).
10.17 |  | Commercial Security Agreement, dated as of June 2, 2021, between the Company and East West Bank (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on June 11, 2021).
10.18 |  | Placement Agency Agreement, dated July 15, 2022, between PodcastOne and Joseph Gunnar & Co., LLC (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on July 20, 2022).
10.19 |  | Exchange Agreement, dated as of February 3, 2023, between the Company and Harvest Small Cap Partners, L.P. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC February 7, 2023).
10.20 |  | Exchange Agreement, dated as of February 3, 2023, between the Company and Harvest Small Cap Partners, Ltd. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC February 7, 2023).
10.21 |  | Exchange Agreement, dated as of February 3, 2023, between the Company and Trinad Capital Master Fund Ltd. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC February 7, 2023).
31.1* |  | Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
31.2* |  | Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
32.1** |  | Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2** |  | Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS* |  | Inline XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH* |  | Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL* |  | Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF* |  | Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB* |  | Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE* |  | Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104* |  | Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

† | Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
£ | Certain confidential information has been omitted or redacted from these exhibits that is not material and would likely cause competitive harm to the Company if publicly disclosed.
* | Filed herewith.
** | Furnished herewith.

24

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

| LIVEONE INC.
Date: August 14, 2023 | By: | /s/ Robert S. Ellin
| Name: | Robert S. Ellin
| Title: | Chief Executive Officer and Chairman
|  | (Principal Executive Officer)
Date: August 14, 2023 | By: | /s/ Aaron Sullivan
| Name: | Aaron Sullivan
| Title: | Interim Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President (Interim Principal Financial Officer and Interim Principal Accounting Officer)

25

2024 false --03-31 Q1 0001491419 0001491419 2023-04-01 2023-06-30 0001491419 2023-08-10 0001491419 2023-06-30 0001491419 2023-03-31 0001491419 2022-04-01 2022-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:CommonStockMember 2023-03-31 0001491419 us-gaap:AdditionalPaidInCapitalMember 2023-03-31 0001491419 us-gaap:RetainedEarningsMember 2023-03-31 0001491419 us-gaap:TreasuryStockCommonMember 2023-03-31 0001491419 us-gaap:CommonStockMember 2023-04-01 2023-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:AdditionalPaidInCapitalMember 2023-04-01 2023-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:RetainedEarningsMember 2023-04-01 2023-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:TreasuryStockCommonMember 2023-04-01 2023-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:CommonStockMember 2023-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:AdditionalPaidInCapitalMember 2023-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:RetainedEarningsMember 2023-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:TreasuryStockCommonMember 2023-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:CommonStockMember 2022-03-31 0001491419 us-gaap:AdditionalPaidInCapitalMember 2022-03-31 0001491419 us-gaap:RetainedEarningsMember 2022-03-31 0001491419 us-gaap:TreasuryStockCommonMember 2022-03-31 0001491419 2022-03-31 0001491419 us-gaap:CommonStockMember 2022-04-01 2022-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:AdditionalPaidInCapitalMember 2022-04-01 2022-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:RetainedEarningsMember 2022-04-01 2022-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:TreasuryStockCommonMember 2022-04-01 2022-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:CommonStockMember 2022-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:AdditionalPaidInCapitalMember 2022-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:RetainedEarningsMember 2022-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:TreasuryStockCommonMember 2022-06-30 0001491419 2022-06-30 0001491419 2021-03-31 0001491419 us-gaap:RestrictedStockUnitsRSUMember 2023-04-01 2023-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:RestrictedStockUnitsRSUMember 2022-04-01 2022-06-30 0001491419 lvo:ConvertibleNotesMember 2023-06-30 0001491419 lvo:ConvertibleNotesMember 2022-06-30 0001491419 lvo:CustomerOneMember us-gaap:TradeAccountsReceivableMember us-gaap:SalesRevenueNetMember us-gaap:CustomerConcentrationRiskMember 2023-04-01 2023-06-30 0001491419 lvo:CustomerOneMember us-gaap:TradeAccountsReceivableMember us-gaap:SalesRevenueNetMember us-gaap:CustomerConcentrationRiskMember 2022-04-01 2022-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:CashAndCashEquivalentsMember 2023-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:CashAndCashEquivalentsMember 2022-06-30 0001491419 lvo:SecondCustomerMember 2022-04-01 2022-06-30 0001491419 lvo:CustomerOneMember 2022-04-01 2022-06-30 0001491419 lvo:SecondCustomerMember 2023-04-01 2023-06-30 0001491419 lvo:CustomerOneMember 2023-04-01 2023-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:ComputerEquipmentMember 2023-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:ComputerEquipmentMember 2023-03-31 0001491419 us-gaap:FurnitureAndFixturesMember 2023-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:FurnitureAndFixturesMember 2023-03-31 0001491419 us-gaap:LeaseholdImprovementsMember 2023-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:LeaseholdImprovementsMember 2023-03-31 0001491419 lvo:CapitalizedSoftwareMember 2023-06-30 0001491419 lvo:CapitalizedSoftwareMember 2023-03-31 0001491419 us-gaap:ComputerSoftwareIntangibleAssetMember 2023-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:IntellectualPropertyMember 2023-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:CustomerRelationshipsMember 2023-06-30 0001491419 lvo:ContentCreatorRelationshipsMember 2023-06-30 0001491419 lvo:DomainNamesMember 2023-06-30 0001491419 lvo:BrandsMember 2023-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:CustomerListsMember 2023-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:ComputerSoftwareIntangibleAssetMember 2023-03-31 0001491419 us-gaap:IntellectualPropertyMember 2023-03-31 0001491419 us-gaap:CustomerRelationshipsMember 2023-03-31 0001491419 lvo:ContentCreatorRelationshipsMember 2023-03-31 0001491419 lvo:DomainNamesMember 2023-03-31 0001491419 lvo:BrandsMember 2023-03-31 0001491419 us-gaap:CustomerListsMember 2023-03-31 0001491419 us-gaap:ConvertibleNotesPayableMember 2020-06-01 2020-06-17 0001491419 lvo:SBALoanMember 2023-06-30 0001491419 lvo:SBALoanMember 2023-03-31 0001491419 2022-07-01 2022-07-15 0001491419 2022-07-15 0001491419 lvo:EquityOwnershipMember 2023-06-30 0001491419 2023-04-15 0001491419 2023-04-01 2023-04-15 0001491419 us-gaap:SubsequentEventMember 2023-07-01 2023-07-15 0001491419 lvo:PC1BridgeLoanMember 2023-06-30 0001491419 2023-01-01 2023-03-31 0001491419 lvo:OneRedemptionPriorToTheInitialMaturityDateMember 2023-04-01 2023-06-30 0001491419 lvo:TwoRedemptionPriorToTheInitialMaturityDateMember 2023-04-01 2023-06-30 0001491419 lvo:ThreeRedemptionPriorToTheInitialMaturityDateMember 2023-04-01 2023-06-30 0001491419 2023-07-01 2023-07-15 0001491419 us-gaap:WarrantMember 2023-04-01 2023-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:WarrantMember 2023-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:WarrantMember 2022-04-01 2023-03-31 0001491419 us-gaap:WarrantMember 2023-03-31 0001491419 2022-04-01 2023-03-31 0001491419 us-gaap:RevolvingCreditFacilityMember 2021-06-02 0001491419 us-gaap:RevolvingCreditFacilityMember 2021-06-01 2021-06-02 0001491419 2022-07-01 2022-07-31 0001491419 us-gaap:RevolvingCreditFacilityMember 2022-07-01 2022-07-31 0001491419 us-gaap:RevolvingCreditFacilityMember 2023-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:RevolvingCreditFacilityMember 2023-04-01 2023-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:SeriesAPreferredStockMember 2023-02-01 2023-02-28 0001491419 us-gaap:SeriesAPreferredStockMember 2023-02-28 0001491419 us-gaap:SeriesAPreferredStockMember 2023-06-30 0001491419 srt:MinimumMember 2023-04-01 2023-06-30 0001491419 srt:MaximumMember 2022-04-01 2022-06-30 0001491419 exch:SFOX 2023-04-01 2023-06-30 0001491419 2022-08-01 2022-08-04 0001491419 2022-08-04 0001491419 2022-04-01 2022-12-31 0001491419 lvo:WantmcsHoldingsMember 2018-04-10 0001491419 lvo:WantmcsHoldingsMember 2018-04-10 0001491419 2023-05-31 2023-05-31 0001491419 2022-11-22 2022-11-22 0001491419 2020-12-31 0001491419 2022-11-01 2022-11-30 0001491419 lvo:OptionalRedemptionRightMember 2023-04-01 2023-06-30 0001491419 lvo:MandatoryRedemptionDateMember 2023-04-01 2023-06-30 0001491419 lvo:MandatoryRedemptionAmountMember 2023-04-01 2023-06-30 0001491419 lvo:MandatoryRedemptionMember 2023-04-01 2023-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:SeriesAPreferredStockMember 2023-04-01 2023-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:SeriesAPreferredStockMember 2023-01-01 2023-03-31 0001491419 us-gaap:SeriesAPreferredStockMember us-gaap:PreferredStockMember 2023-06-30 0001491419 lvo:EquityIncentivePlanMember 2023-04-01 2023-06-30 0001491419 srt:MinimumMember lvo:EquityIncentivePlanMember 2023-06-30 0001491419 srt:MaximumMember lvo:EquityIncentivePlanMember 2023-06-30 0001491419 lvo:AudioGroupMember 2023-06-30 0001491419 lvo:MediaMember 2023-06-30 0001491419 lvo:AudioMember 2023-04-01 2023-06-30 0001491419 lvo:MediaMember 2023-04-01 2023-06-30 0001491419 lvo:CorporateExpensesMember 2023-04-01 2023-06-30 0001491419 lvo:AudioMember 2022-04-01 2022-06-30 0001491419 lvo:MediaMember 2022-04-01 2022-06-30 0001491419 lvo:CorporateExpensesMember 2022-04-01 2022-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:FairValueInputsLevel12And3Member 2023-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:FairValueInputsLevel1Member 2023-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:FairValueInputsLevel2Member 2023-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:FairValueInputsLevel3Member 2023-06-30 0001491419 us-gaap:FairValueInputsLevel12And3Member 2023-03-31 0001491419 us-gaap:FairValueInputsLevel1Member 2023-03-31 0001491419 us-gaap:FairValueInputsLevel2Member 2023-03-31 0001491419 us-gaap:FairValueInputsLevel3Member 2023-03-31 0001491419 us-gaap:SubsequentEventMember 2023-08-11 0001491419 us-gaap:SubsequentEventMember 2023-07-31 0001491419 2023-06-20 0001491419 us-gaap:SubsequentEventMember 2023-08-31 0001491419 srt:ScenarioForecastMember 2026-02-04 2026-02-04 xbrli:shares iso4217:USD iso4217:USD xbrli:shares xbrli:pure